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FRIDAY, SEPTEMBER 12
Let’s don’t be alarmist.

he most important week in Ameri-

can financial history since the Great
Depression began at 8 A.M. on a Friday in
the middle of September last year. I have
pieced together this account of it from
scores of interviews with participants and
observers. Many of the principals agreed
to be interviewed, including Henry Paul-
son, who was Secretary of the Treasury;
Ben Bernanke, the chairman of the Fed-
eral Reserve System; and Timothy Geith-
ner, who was president of the New York
Federal Reserve. As time has passed,
memories inevitably have been colored by
hindsight and efforts to shade the truth,
to affix blame and claim credit, but, as one
Treasury official told me, referring to
himself and his colleagues, “For better or
worse, we're the ones responsible. The
more accurately the story is told, the bet-
ter our policies will be received.”

As Bernanke hurried to the Depart-
ment of the Treasury for his weekly break-
fast with Secretary Paulson, crisis loomed.
Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc., a global
financial-services firm that started out as
adrygoods store in 1850, faced imminent
bankruptey. Its collapse could be cata-
strophic, and a solution had to be found
that weekend, before markets opened on
Monday. Paulson, a former chairman of
the powerful investment bank Goldman
Sachs, is tall, excitable, garrulous, and su-
premely self-confident. Reared as a Chris-
tian Scientist in the affluent Chicago sub-
urb of Barrington Hills, he was an Eagle
Scout in high school and a football player
at Dartmouth before graduating from
Harvard Business School. Paulson doesn’t
use e-mail and tends to ask rapid-fire
questions, in a distinctive, rasping voice.
He once told a colleague, “I didn’t get the
charm gene.”

Nor, evidently, did Bernanke, a soft-
spoken former professor of economics at
Stanford and Princeton. When White
House officials first interviewed Bernanke
for the post of Fed chairman, he was so
quiet they worried that he lacked, as one
put it, “assertiveness.” He grew up in a
small town in South Carolina, played alto
saxophone in the marching band, and
wrote an unpublished novel. He gradu-
ated from Harvard summa cum laude,
and earned a Ph.D. in economics at
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M.LT. He is an expert in the economic
history of the Great Depression.

Both men were appointed by Presi-
dent George W. Bush, but, unlike the
Administration’s free-market absolutists,
they, along with Geithner, considered
themselves pragmatists—proponents of
government action when markets fail.
The two camps had long coexisted among
Republicans, sometimes uneasily, but
during the Bush Administration, with its
anti-regulation rhetoric and cuts in mar-
ginal tax rates, free-market proponents
seemed to be in their element. Bernanke’s
predecessor at the Fed, Alan Greenspan,
kept interest rates exceptionally low. Reg-
ulators at the Securities and Exchange
Commission tolerated high leverage at in-
vestment banks, and the Fed and the Fed-
eral Deposit Insurance Corporation toler-
ated lax real-estate lending standards.
Housing prices shot up. In October, 2007,
the Dow Jones Industrial Average reached
a peak of 14,093. Unheeded by Bernanke,
Paulson, or just about anyone in a position
of authority, an asset bubble had grown to
perilous and historic proportions.

That year, the bubble had begun to
deflate. Defaults among subprime-mort-
gage borrowers rose, and then the elabo-
rate infrastructure of mortgage-backed
securities started to erode. In an attempt
to contain the damage, Paulson and
Bernanke presided over what many con-
sidered the greatest government intru-
sion into markets and finance since the
nineteen-thirties.

Tn March, 2008, the government ush-
ered the failing investment bank Bear
Stearns into a merger with JPMorgan
Chase, a deal that was made possible
by $29 billion of government financing
for Bear Stearns’ troubled assets. In early
September, the Treasury rescued the gov-
ernment-backed private mortgage agen-
cies Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, pledg-
ing up to $200 billion in capital. Such
interventions put taxpayer money at risk
and made a mockery of the notion of
“moral hazard,” a guiding principle of
economics which posits that unless actors
bear the consequences of their actions
they will act recklessly.

Public criticism of Paulson and Ber-
nanke was scathing. The bailouts had
brought into rare alignment the Republi-
can right wing, averse to any tampering
with the free market, and the Democratic
left, outraged by the government rescue of
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Wall Street's overpaid élite. Senator Jim
Bunning, Republican of Kentucky, called
for the two men to resign, and argued that
the bailouts were “a calamity for our free
market system.” He stated, “Simply put,
it is socialism,” and told a Bloomberg
journalist that Paulson was “acting like the
minister of finance in China.” Nouriel
Roubini, an economics professor at New
York University's Stern School of Busi-
ness, who had warned about the housing
bubble back in 2004, declared that “social-
ism is indeed alive and well in America,”
but with a twist: “This is socialism for the
rich, the well connected, and ‘Wall Street.”

Thc previous afternoon, Septem-
ber 11th, Timothy Geithner, at the
New York Fed, had told Paulson and
Bernanke that Lehman was unlikely to
be able to open for business on Monday.
Since its origins, in cotton trading, Leh-
man had underwritten countless stock
and bond offerings, had become a force in
mergers and acquisitions, and was per-
haps best known for its bond index, the
equivalent of the Dow Jones Industrial
Average for stocks. In 2005 and 2006, it
was the largest underwriter of subprime-
mortgage-backed securities.

As recently as 2007, Lehman had re-
ported record profits, thanks largely to its
leverage of thirty to one, meaning that for
every dollar of tangible capital it had thirty
dollars of debt. Most of its assets were
funded by borrowed money, and now,
given the steep decline in mortgage-
backed securities, no one believed that the
assets were worth their nominal value of
$640 billion; Lehman’s share price was
down ninety-four per cent from the pre-
vious year. A run on its assets was already
under way, its liquidity was vanishing, and
its stock price had fallen by forty-two per
cent just the previous day; it couldn’t sur-
vive the weekend. Global markets and the
financial system were far more fragile
than they had been in March, when Bear
Stearns faltered, and Geithner, warning
that the consequences of a Lehman bank-
ruptcy would be quite bad, argued that an
alternative had to be found. Otherwise, he
said, the damage almost certainly would
not be contained.

Bernanke, coming from a different
perspective, had arrived at much the same
position. As a scholar of the Depression,
he had argued that the collapse of banks
and other financial institutions at the time

had made the Depression much worse by
constricting credit. He had become a pro-
ponent of intervening to provide liquidity
and encourage lending. He argued that
the risks of insufficient action—lack of ac-
tion had led Japan into a prolonged slump
in the nineteen-nineties—were far greater
than those of overdoing it.

Paulson had headed Goldman’s in-
vestment-banking operations, including
mergers and acquisitions. As its chief
executive, he had first opposed, then
embraced, the firm’s decision, in 1999,
to go public, showing both flexibility
and decisiveness.

But as Paulson and Bernanke sat down
on September 12th the morning news in-
cluded reports in which anonymous Trea-
sury officials appeared to say that Paulson
was ruling out the possibility of any gov-
ernment financial assistance to Lehman.

Paulson acknowledged to Bernanke
that he had authorized the comments. He
was under intense political pressure from
the White House and Capitol Hill to
curb the furor over the rescue of Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac the previous week-
end, as well as continuing resentment over
Bear Stearns. More important, every pri-
vate business he had spoken with about
acquiring Lehman was insisting on some
kind of government funding. Neverthe-
less, Paulson assured Bernanke, he was
committed to finding a buyer.

All summer, Paulson had been press-
ing Lehman’s chairman and chief execu-
tive, Richard S. Fuld, Jr., to find a buyer
or 2 major investor for the firm. Fuld, at
sixty-two, was intensely aggressive. He

joined Lehman Brothers in 1969, as a

trader, and had subsequently driven Leh-

man’s ambitious expansion. But Fuld had

been slow to grasp the severity of the

firm’s plight, and Paulson was frustrated

that Fuld kept insisting on what Paulson

deemed unrealistic terms, including too

high a price. (Fuld's lawyer did not reply

to requests for comment for this account.)

As a result, Paulson had taken it upon

himself to find a buyer, and he had come
up with two serious candidates: Bank of
America and Barclays, one of the largest

banks in the UK.

Bernanke, too, had tatked to Kenneth
Lewis, the chairman and C.E.O.of Bank
of America. Lewis, a native of Walnut
Grove, Mississippi, and a graduate of
Georgia State, had joined a small regional
bank, North Carolina National, in 1969,




as a credit analyst, and had worked his
way up the ranks as the bank transformed
itself into NationsBank Corporation, by
swallowing a succession of other banks
and thrifts, and then, in 1998, into Bank
of America, whose headquarters were
moved from San Francisco to Charlotte.
Lewis became the bank’s C.E.O. in 2001.
He had never fit in with his Wall Street or

cally direct: “Bob, there’s no government
money.”

‘T hear you,” Diamond replied. “We'll
try.” He took Paulson’s comments as sin-
cere but not necessarily definitive. Bar-
clays would see what it could offer for
Lehman,; if there was a gap, maybe the
government would step in after all.

In the case of Bear Stearns, the Fed

When Jamie Dimon, the C.E.O. of JPMorgan Chase, learned that
ALG. faced a disastrous cash crisis, bis message to Robert Willumstad, the chief
executive, one participant recalled, was blunt:“Stop pussyfooting around.”

West Coast counterparts, and once re-
marked, “Tve had all of the fun I can stand
in investment banking at the moment.”
Unlike commercial banks, which take de-
posits and make loans, investment banks
raise capital for an array of financial ser-
vices, from underwriting stock and bond
offerings, to managing corporate take-
overs, to trading, acting both for clients
and for themselves. Bank of America was
a commercial bank, and Lehman was an
_ investment bank, but Lewis was inter-
ested in it anyway—provided that the
government was willing to lend against
Lehman’s bad assets.

Paulson had urged Lewis and Fuld to
talk. Bank of America auditors were now
trying to determine how much govern-
ment assistance the bank would need.
Meanwhile, Barclays’ president, Bob Di-
amond, an American, saw Lehman as an
opportunity to increase Barclays’ U.S.
investment-banking operations. Paulson,
in their first conversation, had been typi-

had relied on emergency powers, be-
stowed by the Federal Reserve Act,
that allow it to lend in “unusual and exi-
gent circumstances,” when the loans are
“secured to the satisfaction” of the Fed.
JPMorgan had guaranteed Bear’s obliga-
tions until the deal closed.

Over breakfast, Bernanke and Paulson

discussed a plan, first proposed by Paul- .

son the day before, to engineer a similar
“private sector” solution, whereby Bank of
America or Barclays would indeed receive
financing for Lehman’s troubled assets—
but not from the government. Instead,
other banks would be asked to join a con-
sortium, in order to spread the risk. In
other words, Wall Street’s strongest com-
petitors would be asked to put their
differences aside and act together for the
common good. There was precedent for
this in the rescue of Long-Term Capital
Management, in 1998, when William
McDonough, the president of the New
York Fed, summoned bankers to address

that crisis. Surely the bankers would rec-
ognize that the failure of Lehman imper-
illed them all.

hristopher Flowers, the billionaire

founder of the private-equity firm
J. C. Flowers & Company and a self-
described “lowlife grave dancer” with an
eye for failing banks, found himself,
Zelig-like, in the midst of the weeK's deal-
making. Slender, bespectacled, and ram-
pled, Flowers was a math whiz who liked
chess, and those skills made him a formi-
dable opponent in the intricate moves of
financial takeovers—in some cases as an
adviser to firms doing deals, in others as
an actual investor.

Flowers knew Paulson well, having
spent twenty years at Goldman Sachs,
and had worked with Bank of America
officials in the merger with NationsBank.
He talked regularly to Maurice (Hank)
Greenberg, the former chief executive of
the giant insurance conglomerate A.LG.,
and did business with others in the insur-
ance industry, especially executives at
Germany's Allianz.

Earlier in the week, a Bank of Amer-
ica official told Flowers that the firm was
considering buying Lehmah and said that
it wanted him as a partner in the deal.
Flowers and a Bank of America team had
spent the previous twenty-four hours at a
midtown law office going over Lehman’s
books. Its finances turned out to be far
worse than Flowers had expected. The
exposure to risky residential mortgages
was widely known, but not the firm’s $32-
billion portfolio of commercial-real-estate
assets, much of it of dubious quality.

Then an A.L.G. executive asked him
to join a meeting at A.L.Gs headquarters,
in lower Manhattan. “What's the prob-
lem?” Flowers asked. A.L.G., it turned out,
was facing a liquidity crisis, the result of
disastrous bets made by its Financial
Products division, based in London. A.L.G.
Financial Products had become one of
the largest issuers of credit-default swaps,
a product similar to insurance: the buyer
pays the company in return for a promise
of reimbursement in the event of default
onabond or other debt security. If the like-
lihood of default increased, A.I.G. had
to post collateral with its swaps buyers,
or counterparties, to guarantee eventual
payment. A.L.G. had been a pioneer
in credit-default swaps, barely ten years
earlier, and since then had amassed hun-
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“The trailer didn’t live up to the teaser.”

dreds of billions of dollars in exposure.

The risk to A.L.G. from the huge
portfolio had seemed minimal, since the
likelihood of default in any given trans-
action was low. As a result, A.LG.
hadn’t hedged its own exposure to its
swap portfolio, and was earning enor-
mous profits on the business. But dur-
ing the summer of 2008, as increasing
numbers of borrowers became unable to
pay their mortgages, default rates rose.
The U.S. ratings agencies began a
wholesale downgrade of mortgage-
backed securities, triggering demands
that A.1.G. provide ever-larger amounts
of collateral to buyers of its swaps. It
wasn’t clear how A.L.G. could come up
with the cash.

When Flowers and a group from his
firm arrived, dozens of investment bank-
ers, private-equity investors, and AlG.
officials were meeting in various confer-
ence rooms. Flowers and his team were
given their own conference room, where
they and some A.LG. finance officers ex-
amined a spreadsheet, tracking the parent
company’s cash flow and liquidity. The
cash-flow projections showed A.LG. to
be in dire need of capital. It was facing a
$6-billion cash shortfall by the following
Wednesday, a figure that would rise to
$25 billion the next week, and $39 billion
the week after that.

Flowers looked up from the figures.
“Bankruptcy,” he said.

“Wait 2 minute,” one of the A.LG.
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finance officers replied. “Let’s don't be
alarmist.”

“All T know is if you don’t pay six bil-
lion next week you're going to have some
very unhappy people,” Flowers replied.

Robert Willumstad, A.LG.s chief ex-
ecutive, walked in as the group was eating
sandwiches. Willumstad, a reserved old-
school banker and twenty-year Citigroup
executive who lost a succession struggle,
had always wanted to run a large public
company. He got his chance in June,
when the board of A.L.G.—at its peak the
world’s largest insurance company—
ousted the company’s chief. Willumstad,
who had been the board chairman, had
formulated an ambitious restructuring
and turnaround plan and was just begin-
ning to implement it. But the deteriora-
tion in the Financial Products division
and the mounting collateral demands
were sources of growing concern. Wil-
tumstad had hired JPMorgan to advise
ALG. and help it raise capital.

That morning, Willumstad had called
Geithner at the New York Fed, con-
cerned that the ratings agencies were
going to downgrade A.LG., perhaps as
soon as Monday. Depending on the se-
verity of the downgrade, it would prompt
more collateral calls, of anywhere from
$13 billion to $18 billion. A.LG/s cash
crisis was potentially catastrophic. Wil-
Jumstad told Geithner that he needed to
raise $20 billion. A.I.G., an insurance
company, was even farther from the Fed's

mandate than Lehman. Geithner stressed
that A.L.G. needed to find a private-sec-
tor solution, but he agreed to send some
Fed officials over to assess the situation.

Flowers and Willumstad also called
Jamie Dimon, the C.E.O. of JPMorgan.
Dimon was even more forceful. As one
participant recalls, “His message was:
Stop pussyfooting around. Get real, get
serious. This is urgent.”

“Call Warren Buffett,” Flowers told
Willumstad, and gave him the number of
Buffett’s private phone. “Don’t even wait
one second.”

Buffett answered, and Willumstad de-
scribed the liquidity crisis. Buffett asked
some questions and said that he needed
more time. Later, he called back to say
that he might be interested in some of
ALG/s businesses if they were for sale,
but he didn’t want to get involved with the
parent company. Always reluctant to in-
vest in companies whose operations he
didn’t thoroughly understand, Buffett said
that A.LG. was too complicated. (Buffett
did not respond to requests for comment
for this account.)

hat afternoon, Fed staff members

called a number of Wall Street
C.E.O.s and asked them to attend an
emergency meeting. Among the CEOs
were Jamie Dimon; Vikram Pandit, of Cit-
igroup; Brady Dougan, of Credit Suisse
Group; John Thain, of Merrill Lynch;
John Mack, of Morgan Stanley; and Lloyd
Blankfein, Paulson’s successor at Goldman
Sachs. As one veteran of the Long-Term
Capital Management rescue remarked,
“That kind of call is never good news.”

At 6 P.M., aline of black town cars and
§.U.V.s made their way along Maiden
Lane, in lower Manhattan, and entered
the garage of the New York Federal Re-
serve Bank, a seventeen-story Italian
Renaissance-style fortress. (Underground,
in the banK's vault, is the largest stockpile
of monetary gold in the world.) The New
York Fed implements the monetary policy
set by the Federal Reserve Board, in Wash-
ington, and oversees the banks in the na-
tio’s financial capital. Timothy Geithner
had become president of the New York
Fed, after a long career in the Treasury
Department, on the recommendation of
two former Treasury Secretaries, Law-
rence Summers and Robert Rubin. Al-
though he had degrees in Asian Studies
and government from Dartmouth, and a




 graduate degree in East Asian Studies and
; international economics from the Johns
- Hopkins School of Advanced Interna-
. tonal Studies, Geithner lacked a Ph.D.
- and an MLB.A; he also lacked experience
on Wall Street and in banking. He was
- forty-seven but looked much younger, and
- some felt that he lacked the gravitas to be
aFed president. But he seemed to have no
trouble holding his own in discussions
- with Summers and Bernanke, sometimes
| punctuating his remarks with profanity,
and thereby injecting some blunt common
sense into the debates.

A number of the C.E.O.s brought
 their chief financial officers to the meet-
ing. Several European banks, including
Deutsche Bank, Royal Bank of Scotland,
and BNP Paribas, sent their ranking
officers who were in New York. The
meeting took place in a conference room
off the building’s lobby. Paulson was
there, too, and he and Geithner sat at a
large rectangular table, surrounded by
other government officials.

The chairman of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, Christopher
Cox, was also present. Cox, a former Re-
publican congressman who had repre-
sented Orange County, California, for
seventeen years, was on hand as a regula-
tor, since Lehman and other investment
banks are subject to S.E.C. oversight.

Geithner thanked the bankers for
coming on short notice, then turned the
meeting over to Paulson, who said that,
despite the rescues of Bear Stearns and
Fannie and Freddie, there would be no
government money for Lehman. Fortu-
nately, there were two potential saviors.
Paulson didn’t name them, but everyone
present assumed that they were Barclays
and Bank of America, both conspicuously
absent from the meeting. Still, there was
likely to be a pool of Lehman assets that
some buyers would not take. It would be
up to the C.E.O.s in the room to finance
that pool.

Paulson now acknowledges, as some
in the room suspected, that the govern-
ment was more amenable to funding a
rescue than it let on. “We said, No public
money,” he told me. “We said this pub-
licly. We repeated it when these guys
came in. But to ourselves we said, ‘If
there’s a chance to put in public money
and avert a disaster, we're open to it.”

Speaking for the Federal Reserve,
Geithner noted that Lehman’s trouble

had been highly visible, and that investors
had had weeks, if not months, to prepare
for its demise. Even so, he said, a Lehman
failure could be “catastrophic,” and it
would likely be impossible to contain the
damage entirely.

Cox told the C.E.O.s he realized that
they were usually competitors. However,
he said, their collective well-being turned
on a well-functioning market, and the
purpose of the meeting was to restore that
market.

Lehman wasn't the only vulnerable in-
vestment bank. Even if it found a buyer,
who would be next to face a run, and pos-
sible ruin?

Paulson reminded the C.E.O.s that
Lehman was unlikely to open for business
on Monday morning, so they had just
forty-eight hours to resolve the crisis.

Geithner divided the C.E.O.s into
three working groups: the first, led by
‘Goldman Sachs and Credit Suisse, was
asked to value Lehman’s troubled assets
and assess the amount that the firms
would have to finance. The second, which
included Merrill Lynch, Citigroup, and
Morgan Stanley, was told to consider var-
ious structures under which Lehman

could be sold and its bad assets recapital-

ized. The third was told to prepare for a
Lehman bankruptcy.

The meeting ended at about nine-
thirty, and the working groups agreed to

reconvene the next morning.

SATURDAYY, SEPTEMBEI’\' 13
Hawve you been watchin 9 ALG.2

t 8 AM., the Wall Street C.E.O.s,

dressed in slacks and sports shirts, re-
assembled in the Fed conference room,
some carrying coffee and crumb cake. Paul-
son and Geithner said that Barclays was the
most likely buyer for Lehman but that ne-
gotiations with Bank of America were con-
tinuing. In either case, there had to be a
“private solution” for the toxic assets.

The chief executives were unsure how
expensive that solution might be. And
why should Wall Street firms finance a
transaction to benefit a competitor like
Barclays?

Dimon spoke up. “Look, were all ina
fix. This is something we have to do in
the best interests of the global financial
system.”

Geithner again broke the group into
teamns, saying that they would reconvene
in several hours. When they did, the
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bankers reported that they were thinking
about establishing a revolving line of credit
to support other banks that might find
themselves in Lehman's predicament. But
Geithner had asked them to focus on Le-
hman. “You guys have got to try harder!”
he insisted. Throughout the day, when
members of the various groups passed in
the Fed corridors, they asked one another,
“Are you trying harder?”

John Thain, of Merrill
Lynch, worried, like the
others, that a resolution of
the Lehman crisis would
just shift the crisis to the
next most vulnerable bank,
which might well be Merrill.
Thain, who is fifty-four,
grew up in Antioch, Illinois,
and first came to promi-
nence at Goldman Sachs,
where he advanced rapidly.
He is trim and square-jawed,
with thick hair and brown
eyes and a resemblance to
Clark Kent. He studied en-
gineering at M.I.T. and
received an M.B.A. from
Harvard. He had been a co-
head of Goldman’s complex
mortgage operations before
being named chief operating
officer by Paulson. He left to
become chief executive of
the troubled New York
Stock Exchange, success-
fully took it public, and
gained a reputation as a
turnaround expert.

Merrill was also in trou-
ble when it approached
Thain, in 2007. It had just
fired Stanley O’Neal, who,
as chief executive, had made
Merrill one of the largest -
underwriters of mortgage-backed securi-
ties, a strategy that proved disastrous
when the housing bubble burst. Merrill’s
board offered Thain a $15-million sign-
ing bonus. He had assumed the position
in December, just as the subprime crisis
was eroding the firm’s balance sheet.

"Thain immediately shook up Merrill's
hidebound culture by recruiting two of his
former colleagues from Goldman, with
lavish guarantees: Thomas Montag, as the
head of global sales and trading (with a re-
ported pay package of $39.4 million), and
Peter Kraus, as the head of global strategy
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(with a $29.4-million contract). Fach man
also received millions in Merrill stock to
replace his Goldman holdings. Thain
hired the Los Angeles decorator Michael
Smith to renovate his office and adjoining
conference rooms, at a cost of more than a
million dollars.

It wasn’t Thain’s pay or his spending,
though, that annoyed Merrill's rank and

T didn’t come bere to sell the company,” John Thain,
of Merrill Lynch, told Bank of America’s Ken Lewis. “That’s

what I'm interested in,” Lewis said,

file. It was his—and his former Goldman
colleagues—superior manner. “He made
a point of making it clear that the Merrill
people were inferior to the Goldman peo-
ple,” a former Merrill executive says. “He
was disappointed in the quality of the in-
frastructure and the people at Merrill. Of
course, he had good reason to be. They
were in the process of losing tens of bil-
lions of dollars.” (Thain disputes this
charactérization.)

"The highest-ranking Merrill official to
survive the transition was Gregory Flem-
ing, who some at Merrill had thought

would succeed O'Neal. Wanting to main-
tain some continuity, Thain kept him on
as president.

Earlier that morning, Fleming had
called Thain at home, in Westchester
County. For weeks, Fleming had wanted
to prepare various contingency schemes
for Merrill. The best hope for a possible
rescuer was Bank of America, which had
twice tried to get Merrill
into merger talks but had
been rebuffed. Now that
Bank of America was ne-
gotiating to buy Lehman,
Fleming was even more in-
sistent. “It’'s time to call Ken
Lewts,” he said.

In Thain’s view, Mer-
rill just needed time for
the market to stabilize in
order to generate more
earnings. He thought that
Fleming sounded hysteri-
cal, and suspected that
Fleming’s sudden eager-
ness to sell the company
reflected, at least in part,
resentment at having been
passed over in favor of an
outsider. Fleming, for his
part, suspected that Thain
was resisting his sugges-
tion in order to protect his
job as chief executive.

Later that day, Lehman
officials met with the
team led by Goldman
and Credit Suisse, which
was trying to quantify the
“hole” in Lehman’s ba-
lance sheet—the amount
by which liabilities ex-
ceeded assets. The Lehman
people discussed the prob-
lems on the balance sheet, the quality of
their assets, and the specifics of the liquid-
ity crisis, including a $5-billion collateral
call that week from JPMorgan Chase,
Lehman’s clearing bank. :
Afterward, the Goldman and Credit
Suisse team told the C.E.O.s that the
“hole” appeared to amount to tens of bil-
lions of dollars. Lehman’s commercial-
real-estate assets, in particular, were being
carried on the firm’s books at a far higher
value than was realistic. As one partici-
pant put it, “I'he air kind of went out of
the room.” Thain was particularly un-




nerved. JPMorgan was Merrill's clearing
bank, too.

In the building’s lobby after the meet-
ing, Thain discussed the developments
with Peter Kraus, one of the Goldman
bankers he had hired, and Peter Kelly,
Merrill's general counsel for operating
businesses. “I think they're really going to
let Lehman go under,” he said. Reconsid-
ering his earlier rebuff of Fleming, Thain
stepped outside the building and called
Ken Lewis at home in North Carolina,
and told him, “I think we should discuss

some strategic options.”

L ewis immediately flew to New York,
__sand a few hours later answered the
door when Thain arrived at Bank of
America’s corporate apartment, in the
Time Warner Center. The two men were
alone. “We're interested in having Bank
of America buy a 9.9-per-cent stake and
put at our disposal a multibillion-dollar
credit facility,” Thain said.

“Tm not interested in a 9.9-per-cent
stake,” Lewis said.

“Well, I didn’t come here to sell the
company,” Thain replied.

“That's what I'm interested in,” Lewis
said.

Lewis pointed out that Bank of
America, despite its size, wasn't much of
a force on Wall Street. In Merrill, the
company would get a global presence in
investment banking, the best brand name
in wealth management, and Merrill's
vaunted army of retail brokers. Thain,
among others on Wall Street, felt that
Lewis and other Bank of America exec-
utives in the South had a chip on their
shoulders, imagining that they were
never accorded the deference shown a
JPMorgan Chase or a Citigroup.

Thain suggested that they assemble
teams to pursue both options—the
9.9-per-cent stake and the takeover.

Lewis replied that maybe they shouldn’t
tell anyone else about a potential deal.

“Tve got to tell Hank Paulson,” Thain
said. He was worried that he would be
blamed for deflecting Bank of America’s
interest away from Lehman.

“We're not going to pursue Lehman
Brothers,” Lewis said. “But go ahead, you
can tell Paulson.”

When Thain got to the Fed, he found
Paulson and told him that he'd met with
Lewis.

“Good,” Paulson said.

In the conference room, the discussion
grew tense as some pointed out that it
wouldn’t help to save Lehman if the crisis
just spread to the next bank. As JPMor-
gan's Jamnie Dimon and Morgan Stanley’s
John Mack put it, a “fire wall” was needed
to stop the fire’s spread, and that fire wall
would have to be Merrill Lynch. As the
gathering broke up, Mack pulled Thain
aside and proposed that they meet that
evening. At about the same time, Gary
Cohn, Goldman’s president, told Peter
Kraus that Goldman might be interested
in buying a stake in Merrill. Kraus and
Kelly agreed to go to Goldman’s head-
quarters early the next day.

Paulson and Geithner had spoken on
the phone that'morning with a Bar-
clays team, including the firm’s president,
Bob Diamond, at Barclays’ New York
headquarters. Barclays’ C.E.O., John
Varley, was on the line in London. As
Paulson and Geithner listened at the New
York Fed, their staff members gathered
around.

The previous day, Paulson had talked
with his British counterpart, Alistair
Darling, the Chancellor of the Exche-
quer, to make sure that British authori-
ties were comfortable with Barclays’ in-
volvement in a potential Lehman rescue.
Darling had pointed out that authority
over a Barclays deal rested with Britain’s
Financial Services Authority and the
Bank of England, and that British regu-
lators would be asking tough questions
about risks for the British taxpayer. Paul-
son turned to two of his Treasury aides,
who were in his office during the conver-
sation. “He doesn’t want to import the
American disease,” Paulson said.

Now Diamond spoke for the British.
Barclays was prepared to make an offer for
Lehman, he said, with several conditions.
The plan provided an elegant solution to
Lehman’s troubled assets: they would re-
main in a Lehman entity, which would be
dubbed Newco and owned by Lehman’s
shareholders. Barclays would buy every-
thing else. The proposal would leave a
shortfall that Barclays estimated at $15 or
$16 billion, for which funding would have
to be found.

Barclays knew that on Monday morn-
ing someone would have to guarantee

Lehman’s debts until the deal closed, as

JPMorgan had done for Bear Stearns.
If someone did so, and investors had

confidence in the guarantee, business
would continue as usual. Otherwise, cus-
tomers would flee. Although the sums at
stake would be large, the risk was rela-
tively low. British regulations required a
shareholder vote to approve such a guar-
antee. Since Barclays would need to se-
cure a guarantee for Lehman’s operations
for as long as a month before a deal could
be closed, the Barclays people called War-
ren Buffett. Buffett was amenable, up toa
point. “I could take a look at providing
maybe five billion of protection,” he said,
but he wouldn’t commit to more.

After the call, the Barclays bankers
and advisers decided that it was point-
less to pursue the matter. If the bank had
to announce a piecemeal guarantee, in
which Barclays honored three billion,
Buffett five billion, and so on, investors
wouldn’t be reassured. No private entity
would assume an unlimited exposure, no
matter how slight the risk. Only a gov-
ernment could do that. Perhaps the Trea-
sury or the Fed could simply say that it
was backing Lehman's obligations until
the deal closed, or until the shareholders
approved. The Barclays bankers were
convinced that such a guarantee wouldn't

cost U.S. taxpayers anything.

s chance would have it, while the

New York Fed was addressing its
severest financial challenge since the De-
pression, the tenth-floor offices of the
president were being cleared of asbestos
and renovated. Geithner and his staff
were working out of temporary quarters
on the thirteenth floor that looked, as one
visitor described them, like “a Toledo Ra-
mada Inn.” That morning, they met with
the ubiquitous Christopher Flowers and
senior officials from Bank of America,
who were there to discuss the Lehman
takeover. They had stayed up all night
scrutinizing Lehman’s books, and the pic-
ture had got worse. One Bank of Amer-
ica official told Paulson and Geithner,
“We can’t do this without you.” He sug-
gested that the government back about
$60 billion of Lehman's troubled assets.

When Flowers was leaving, he turned
to Paulson. “By the way,” he said. “Have
you been watching A.LG.?”

“Why, what's wrong at A.L.G.?” Paul-
son asked. Geithner had mentioned that
there were some liquidity issues, but Paul-
son had heard that the New York State

insurance commissioner was stepping in,
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and that a private-sector solution was tak-
ing shape.

“Well, you should take a look at
this,” Flowers said, and pulled out the
spreadsheet he'd got from A.I.G. the
day before.

They went back into the office, and
Paulson examined the numbers. Flowers
pointed out the looming multibillion-
dollar “shortfall.”

“Oh, my God!” Paulson said.

He and Geithner asked their staff
people to do some fast research on
A.LG., which, as a giant insurance com-~
pany, wasn't regulated by either the Fed-
eral Reserve and the F.D.I.C. or the
S.E.C. Although its insurance opera-
tions were covered by state insurance
regulators, it turned out that A.L.G. did
have some federal supervision. Since it
owned a small savings-and-loan, its op-
erations were reported to the Office of
Thrift Supervision, which regulates
S. & L.s. But, when Fed officials called
the O.T.S,, officials there seemed bewil-
dered by the questions about A.I.G.s li-
quidity. A.I.G. Financial Products, the
center of the problems, was not regulated
by the O.T.S., or by any American en-
tity. Although the O.T'.S. had warned
A.L.G’s board about inadequate risk
oversight, no one in the government ap-
pears to have understood the potential
scope of the problem. The Fed officials
needed to talk to Robert Willumstad.
“We'd better get them in here this after-
noon,” Paulson said. :

When Willumstad and other A.LG.
officials arrived, Willumstad confirmed
ALGs liquidity crisis. But he said that
he was meeting with various private-
equity firms. Despite the growing cash
demands, A.I.G. still had enormous as-
sets, including one of the world’s largest
investment portfolios. But many of these
assets were in A.I.G.’s insurance busi-
nesses, which were required by the states
to maintain assets sufficient to meet in-
surance claims. The New York insurance
commissioner was at A.1.G.’s offices, and
New YorK's governor was getting in-
volved. The A.L.G. officials were opti-
mistic about finding a way to free up
some of those assets so that A.L.G. could
meet the cash demands while it pursued
other ways to raise capital.

Later that evening, Willumstad called
the New York Fed. He knew that a Leh-
man bankruptcy was likely, and that it
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would significantly increase the pressure
on A.L.G., with additional collateral calls
and a probable decline in the value of its
investment portfolio. Willumstad esti-
mated that A.I.G. needed $40 billion,
twice the amount he had mentioned ear-
lier. To raise that kind of money, he
needed government support. Geithner
said that none would be forthcoming.

SUNDAY, SEPTEMBER 14
1 don'’t know how this happened.

hen, at 8 A.M., John Thain re-

turned to Ken Lewis’s apartment
to pursue the rescue of Merrill Lynch by
Bank of America, he sensed that Lewis
had grown more eager to make a deal. As
Lewis offered Thain coffee, he seemed
entranced by the possibility of instantly
becoming America’s largest retail broker.
Thain was growing anxious. The previous
night’s meeting with John Mack and
other Morgan Stanley executives had
made it clear that Morgan Stanley couldn’t
move fast enough. He hadn’t yet heard
anything about the Goldman meeting
then under way. Bank of America might
be the only option. Lewis was emphatic
about one thing. “Were only interested in
buying a hundred per cent,” he said.

“Then it can’t be a lowball price,”
Thain replied.

Lewis assured him that he wasn’t try-
ing to get Merrill on the cheap.

After about half an hour, Thain left for
the Fed. When he arrived, Kelly and
Kraus told him that Goldman had pro-
posed buying a 9.9-per-cent stake in
Merrill and providing a $10-billion line of
credit—just what Thain had been looking
for originally. Goldman wanted to start
examining Merrill's books as soon as pos-
sible. “Let’s get this going,” Thain said.

Kelly called Greg Fleming, who was in
midtown negotiating with Bank of Amer-
ica, and asked him to send a team of Mer-
rill bankers to the firm’s headquarters,
downtown, to help Goldman with its due

diligence. Fleming balked. “That’s not
happening,” he said. He'd got Bank of
America to agree to $29 a share, a re-
markably high price under the circum-
stances. “If they hear about a Goldman
Sachs deal, they'll be spooked.” Fleming
refused to release any of his team. Shortly
afterward, Thain called Fleming. The
tone of their exchange was icy. “Get peo-
ple down here,” Thain ordered.

Fleming grudgingly agreed to send a
couple of people, but there was less than
twenty-four hours remaining before the
markets opened, and Goldman, a tradi-
tional Merrill rival, was liable to walk
away once its bankers got a good look at
Merrill's balance sheet. A Bank of Amer-
ica deal could collapse as well. To some of
those involved, $29 a share was beginning
to seem wildly optimistic.

P aulson had been at his desk since
seven, trying to organize the day’s
schedule and meeting with Treasury
teams. At about eight, he took a call from
John Varley, the Barclays chairman, in
London.

Hector Sants, the chief executive of
Britain’s Financial Services Authority, felt
that he had made it clear to Barclays that
the F.S.A. would not approve a deal that
put Barclays at risk, and Barclays had
readily agreed. Although Barclays was
well capitalized, and the F.S.A. thought it
would weather the crisis, Sants did not
believe that it was strong enough to ab-
sorb all the risk. He worried that doing so -
might trigger a crisis in confidence in Bar-
clays that could become self-fulfilling.
Barclays is one of Britain’s largest retail
banks, with millions of depositors. Sants
expected something similar to the kind of
backing that JPMorgan Chase had re-
ceived in the Bear Stearns deal. It didn’t
matter to Sants whether it came from the
bankers meeting in New York or from the
Fed, and he urged Callum McCarthy, the
chairman of the F.S.A., to make this clear
to Geithner.

McCarthy tried to convey the British
concerns to Geithner in a call on Sunday
morning, mentioning the issues about
Barclays’ capital position. He also told
Geithner that the F.S.A. Jacked the au-
thority to waive the shareholder vote re-
quired for Barclays to guarantee Leh-
man’s operations. But perhaps McCarthy,
in his understated British manner, was
too elliptical. “Callum, you have to de-




cide,” Geithner said. “Are you going to
approve this or not? You're not saying no,
you're not saying yes.” He felt they were
talking in circles.

One of the British participants said,
“We could never get clarity” from the
Americans.

When Geithner briefed Paulson and
Christopher Cox on the exchange,
Geithner was visibly angry. Why were
the British raising this obstacle so late in
the process? Geithner said that he had
asked McCarthy three times if he was
going to block the deal and never got a
straight answer.

Cox called McCarthy and said, “Tell
me what your view is.” The normally
affable McCarthy seemed cool and
detached. “My responsibility is that
you understand the things that have
to be done,” he said. “I don’t see them
happening.”

Cox reported to Geithner and Paul-
son, “He won’t budge.”

Paulson placed another call to Alistair
Darling, who had been in regular contact
with Prime Minister Gordon Brown and
McCarthy.

“Your F.S.A. is creating a lot of
difficulties,” Paulson said.

“You have to understand we have a re-
sponsibility to the British taxpayer,” Dar-
ling replied.

The various calls between the Amer-
icans and the British that morning re-
main a point of contention. From the
American point of view, there was never
a solid proposal that they could respond
to. The British (and some on the Amer-
ican side) maintain that the issue of a
shareholder vote is a red herring. The
British also felt that they were never
presented with a deal that they could
respond to. “It was not the high point
of Anglo-American relations,” one per-
son familiar with the conversations
says.
Lehman’s C.E.O., Dick Fuld, had had
months to find a buyer and hadn’t done
s0. Now that Bank of America had set its
sights on Merrill Lynch and Barclays was
procedurally hung up, the only way to save
Lehman would be for the government to
essentially take an ownership stake—a
step that would amount to nationalization
and one for which the government says it
did not have authority.

As the Treasury official described the
situation, “The model had always been

Bear Stearns. It was obvious you needed
JPMorgan to make that happen. Now
we didn’t have a JPMorgan. So could we
just recapitalize Lehman and keep it
going? Do you leave Dick Fuld in place?
How would that look? The run was al-
ready in progress. There was no reason
to think our money would restore
confidence in Lehman. As Geithner
said, you can’t lend into a run. So there
were really two issues: legal and practi-
cal. Paulson insists that we didn’t have
the legal authority, and I won’t question
that. But, even if we did have the au-
thority, it wasn’t practical. All the Fed
money in the world wasn’t going to stop
a run on Lehman.”

Referring to a Lehman failure, the
Treasury official said, “We knew it
would be awful.” At the same time, after
months of turmoil, anyone still owning
Lehman stock or commercial paper had
to be considered a speculator. Perhaps
investors would stop assuming that the
government would bail out every way-
ward financial institution and adjust

their risk-taking accordingly. “Every-

body in some part of their brain thought

it was a good thing for Lehman Broth-
ers to go under,” the Treasury official

said. “Was this ten per cent of the brain?
I don’t know. ... But the thought was
there somewhere.”

At noon, Steven Shafran, a senior ad-
viser at the Treasury, text-messaged his
colleagues, “We lost the patient.”

hen the chief executives of the

banks met again that day at the
New York Fed, they expected Geithner
and Paulson to tell them exactly how
much they would be expected to con-
tribute to a Lehman rescue. Instead,
Paulson, Geithner, and Cox all looked
grim as they filed into the room, trailed
by various Treasury and Fed staff mem-
bers. “The Barclays deal has fallen
through,” Paulson said. “You should ex-
pect a Lehman bankruptcy.”

Hastily summoned late that after-
noon to the New York Fed, Harvey
Miller, Lehman’s head bankruptcy law-
yer, joined a group of Lehman execu-
tives and officials from the Treasury, the
Fed, and the S.E.C. Tom Baxter, the
general counsel for the New York Fed,
began by reiterating that the Barclays
deal had fallen apart. There was no res-
cue for Lehman.

“What's the next step?” Miller asked.

THE NEW YORKER, SEPTEMBER 2I, 2009 67




The next step was bankruptcy. “You
have to file by midnight,” Baxter said.

Miller and his lawyers hadn’t even
started drafting papers. The day before,
when he heard from Fed officials, he
hadn’t sensed any urgency.

“You don'’t realize what you're say-
ing,” Miller argued. “It’s going to have
a disabling effect on the markets and

pany had to file for bankruptcy before
the markets opened on Monday morn-
ing. “The alternative would have been
chaos,” Baxter said. “Everyone would
have known that the weekend'’s rescue
efforts had failed. You'd have had a mad
dash for assets worldwide.”

As Miller, the bankruptcy lawyers,
and the Lehman officials returned to

had put pressure on Cox to call the Leh-
man board and encourage Lehman to file
for bankruptcy immediately. Cox felt that
it was inappropriate for the government
to interfere in the board’s decision. In-
stead, he stressed that the Lehman board
had a “grave responsibility,” a fiduciary
duty to shareholders. He told them that
the Treasury and the Fed believed that

As Lebman’s bankruptcy was being negotiated, word spread that the headquarters would be locked down
and its contents seized. Employees streamed out of the building, carting off their personal belongings.

destroy confidence in the credit mar-
kets. If Lehman goes down, it will be
Armageddon.” All the government offi-
cials filed out, to discuss the timing of
the bankruptcy, leaving the Lehman
officials and lawyers to speculate about
their fate. When they returned, Baxter
told him that they had not changed
their view. Lehman Brothers should file
by midnight.

“Why?” Miller persisted. “There’s no
way that can happen. There’s been no
preparation.” Raising his voice, he added,
“We just want to understand.”

An outside lawyer for the Fed told
Miller that he wasn't being constructive
by continuing to argue, and Baxter agreed.
“The decision has been made and it won'’t
be revisited,” Baxter said.

Fed officials didn't feel that they had
time to discuss the weekend’s events in
detail with Miller. Their goals were to
make sure that Lehman officials and
their lawyers understood that there
would be no reprieve and that the com-
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Lehman’s headquarters, in midtown, a
bearded man was pacing the sidewalk
waving a placard that read “Down with
Wall Street.” Word had spread that in the
event of bankruptcy the building would be
locked down and its contents seized. Em-
ployees were streaming out, carrying suit-
cases, pulling rolling bags, carting off their
personal belongings.

When the group reached the board-
room, on the thirty-first floor, the direc-
tors were already meeting. After a lawyer
briefed the board on the government's
verdict, Dick Fuld, the C.E.O., shook his
head. “T don’t know how this happened,”
he said. Another director asked plain-
tively, “They bailed out Bear—why not
us?” Fuld’s secretary came in and handed
him a note. “Hold on,” he said. “Some-
thing unusual is going on. Chris Cox
wants to address the board.”

The S.E.C. chairman, along with
Baxter and S.E.C., Fed, and Treasury
staff people, was put through to the
speaker at the center of the table. Paulson

market conditions were such that what
they did would heavily affect the market,
and the timing was critical.

“Are you directing us to put Lehman
in bankruptcy?” one director asked. Cox
said no. Then there was a pause as he con-
ferred away from the phone. When he re-
turned, a minute or two later, Cox said,
“No, the ultimate decision is yours. We
can't interfere in corporate governance.”

Baxter added, “But our preference was
made very clear today at the Fed.”

After an hour of discussion, the
board voted unanimously to file for
bankruptcy.

Fuld said, “T guess this is goodbye.”

L.Gs efforts to raise capital or free

. assets from the regulated insur-
ance companies stalled as the company
kept increasing the estimate of the amount
of capital it needed. Understandably, no
one wanted to contribute $20 billion, only
to discover that it had vanished as ALGs

cash needs continued to soar. But, after




| more than two days of nearly round-the-
|- clock due diligence, Flowers and his col-
1 leagues were ready to make a proposal to
b rescue A.L.G. Flowers had enlisted top
- officials from Allianz, the giant German
b insurance company, who had flown to
i New York the day before. At 3 P.M., they
t met with Willumstad in the conference
L room outside his office.

i  Flowers proposed that his firm
F and Allianz buy A.LG. for $2 a share.
i (A.L.G. shares had closed on Friday at
| twelve.) They would acquire the assets
 of the subsidiaries, but would need to be
¢ insulated from the liabilities of the par-
ent. Flowers and Allianz would contrib-
ute five billion each in new capital.
| Flowers’s offer was conditioned on re-
b ceiving Fed support.
And there was another condition:
I Willumstad and A.LG’s top manage-
i ment would be replaced immediately by

Allianz executives.

Willumstad thought the proposal was
" laughable. He thanked Flowers for his

- efforts and asked him to leave.

hat afternoon, Merrill Lynch worked
out the details of the company’s sale

| to Bank of America. It involved no cash

- buta share exchange that did indeed value
I Merrill at $29 a share. The Merrill Lynch
' board, meeting by phone, approved the
deal. John Thain called Ken Lewis with
L the news. “It was unanimous,” he said.
“You have a deal.”
¥ Around 7:30 P.M., Thain and his en-
. tourage walked from Merrill, on Fifth
| Avenue, to the offices of Bank of Amer-
b ica’s legal firm, Wachtell, Lipton, Ro-
- sen & Katz, on Fifty-second Street,

| where Lewis and other Bank of America

 executives were waiting. Bank of Amer-
ica’s board had also unanimously ap-
| proved the deal. The Merrill bankers
E  got a taste of the different culture they
 would soon be joining. “It was South
versus North, traditional banking—blue
- collar versus the trailblazers, the masters
| of the universe,” one Merrill participant
- recalls. “I began to get a hint of the re-

. sentment toward Wall Street. This ac-

quisition was tinged with resentment
L that went beyond the numbers. It was as
- if the tortoise had eaten the hare, and
they were not very good at hiding it.”
Flowers had just arrived from A.LG.
| to deliver a fairness opinion on the $29

price for Bank of America shareholders.

Given that it was a stock deal—Merrill
shareholders would receive no cash—
Bank of America also had some protec-
tion. If general market conditions deteri-
orated, and Bank of America’s stock
declined, the price of the Merrill deal
would drop accordingly. Flowers con-
cluded that $29 a share was a plausible
price. (For this advice, which has subse-
quently been criticized, Flowers and an
affiliated firm were paid $20 million
by Bank of America.) :

According to a complaint later filed by
the S.E.C,, the agreement also included a
document, not made public at the time,
that authorized bonuses to be paid to
Merrill employees for 2008. Even though
Merrill’s results weren't yet known for the
full year (ultimately, the firm lost more
than $27 billion), the document allowed
for bonuses that “do not exceed $5.8 bil-
lion in aggregate value.” Bank of America
now says that the document was not dis-
closed for “competitive reasons.”

While lawyers continued working out
the details, Thain and Lewis went to a
small conference room to await news that
they could sign the merger documents. A
bottle of chilled champagne and two
glasses had been placed in the room to
toast the completion of the deal. Thain
felt that he had done the best he could for
Merrill’s shareholders. As the time passed,
Lewis grew impatient, and called several
times to ask where the papers were. Fi-
nally, just before 1 A.M., they arrived. The
two men signed, and then poured the
champagne. Neither one said anything
about Thain’s future with Bank of Amer-
ica. “Tlook forward to a great partnership
with Merrill Lynch,” Lewis said, raising
his glass. He grimaced. The champagne

‘was warmm. .

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 15
The beginnings of a run.

ruce R. Bent, Sr., the chairman of

the Reserve Management Com-
pany, which ran the country’s oldest
money-market fund, had just arrived in
Rome, where he was planning to cele-
brate his fiftieth wedding anniversary,
when his son, Bruce Bent II, the firm’s
vice-chairman, called him from New
York. In his absence from the office,
Bent relied on his son, whose shoulder-
length hair and beard made him look
more like the philosophy major and

drummer he once was than like an exec-
utive of a renowned money-market fund.
The subject they discussed was the Leh-
man bankruptcy. The Bents’ money-
market fund owned hundreds of millions
of dollars of Lehman debt securities.

The elder Bent, along with the firm’s
late co-founder, Henry Brown, had in-
vented the money-market fund, in 1970,
and the company’s Primary Fund had
begun operating in 1971. At that time,
yields on bank deposits were capped at
about five per cent, but short-term U.S.
Treasury bonds, which could be acquired
only in ten-thousand-dollar increments,
were yielding eight per cent. Now, thanks
to Bent and Brown, even small investors
could participate in the higher yields of
Treasury bonds by pooling assets. The in-
vestments were ultra-safe, and since they
had short-term maturities there was little
risk from changing interest rates.

In addition to U.S. Treasuries, some
money-market funds began buying com-
mercial paper—short-term debt that
companies use to fund their operating ex-
penses. By September of 2008, money-
market funds had become a $3.5-trillion
market, and many large corporations had
come to rely on them to meet their day-
to-day cash needs, such as making payroll.
Unlike bank deposits, the funds weren’t
covered by federal deposit insurance, but
they were perceived as equally safe. And
why not? In forty years, the net asset value
of funds available to the public had never
fallen below a dollar a share—a hypothet-
ical possibility known as “breaking the
buck.” Many funds carried check-writing
privileges, helped to finance the federal
debt, and provided large corporations
with an important source of liquidity.

For years, the elder Bent had insisted
that money-market funds should confine
themselves to Treasury bills and bank
certificates of deposit, but in 2006, as
other firms made huge profits, the Pri-
mary Fund began buying highly rated
commercial paper as well. From Novem-
ber, 2007, through the summer of 2008,
it increased its purchases of Lehman se-
curities. Thanks in part to the higher
yields from such assets, the Primary
Fund’s one-year return was four per
cent—well above the comparable rate for
Treasuries, and high even by money-
market-fund standards. Both Moody’s
and Standard & Poor’s gave triple-A rat-
ings to the Primary Fund. Individual and
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large institutional investors flocked to the
firm, and its assets rose to nearly $63 bil-
lion. About 1.2 per cent of those were in
Lehman commercial paper and other se-
curities—enough, theoretically, to break
the buck if the assets lost their value.

Even as Lehman’s situation deterio-
rated, the elder Bent had remained
confident that the assets were secure. Two
days before leaving for his vacation, he
had declared on CNBC that, because of
Lehman’s importance to the world
financial structure, “the Federal Reserve
window that they opened after they closed
down Bear Stearns should be available to
Lehman for the same type of situation.”

It was now publicly known that the
Primary Fund was exposed to Lehman’s
failure. Time Warner, which had $820
million in the fund, requested redemp-
tions that morning. The Bents contacted
the New York Fed at 7:50 A.M., accord-
ing to S.E.C. documents, to express con-
cern about Lehman’s effect on the money-
market industry and on the Primary
Fund.

But the gravity of the crisis apparently
had yet to sink in, judging from the tran-
script of the Reserve Management board
meeting at 8 AM., which was released by
the S.E.C. Bent II suggested that his fa-
ther preside: “You got more sleep than I
did last night.”

“Last night, I was sleeping on the
plane from New York to Rome,” his fa-
ther said. “I said to my wife, “This is sup-
posed to be a memorable trip.” And she
responded, ‘Well, it certainly will be,
right?” »

Bent I reported that, as of that mom-
ing, the Primary Fund was facing $5.2
billion in redemption requests. In assess-
ing the value of the Lehman holdings, the
elder Bent initially argued that they con-
tinue to carry the Lehman debt at par, or
a hundred per cent of face value, even
though, according to the S.E.C., the mar-
ket data the Bents had seen suggested that
there was no real market for Lehman debt
and that bids ranged from forty-five to
fifty cents. At a second meeting, the board
settled on eighty cents on the dollar, en-
abling the fund to calculate a net asset
value of 99.75 cents, which could be
rounded to maintain the one-dollar net
asset value. At the same time, the board
decided not to try to sell the securities
under current market conditions.

At a third board meeting, at 1 PM,,
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Bent Il reported that redemption requests
had reached $16.5 billion. According to
the minutes, he described “what appeared
to be a run on the Primary Fund.” But he
didn’t mention that State Street, the fund’s
custodian bank, had called to report that
the huge number of redemptions had
caused the Primary Fund’s account to be
overdrawn, and the bank was suspending
overdraft privileges, according to the
S.E.C. Anyone seeking to withdraw
funds could not immediately get his
money. The credit markets were barely
functioning, and the fund couldn’t raise
cash to meet redemption requests by sell-
ing its normally liquid assets. As the chief
investment officer put it, according to the
transcript of the board meetings, this was
“the kiss of death.” He also said, “Paulson
and Bernanke totally fucked thisup. ...
don’t think they thought this God-
damned thing through, to figure out what
the ripple effects would be.”

Bent II said that the company would
try to secure additional financing or inject
capital from the holding company, Re-
serve Management. The board voted to
pursue that strategy, and sales representa-
tives launched an effort to stem the with-
drawals and reassure shareholders. One
told a client, according to S.E.C. docu-
ments, “We have a backstop and are
going to ensure that the fund does not
break the buck.”

Yet by the end of the day redemption
requests totalled more than $20 billion.
A little less than half that had been
funded, with Reserve Management per-
sonnel blaming the delays on the mar-
ket and limits placed by State Street. As
the chief investment officer summed up
the situation in a call to other Reserve
officials, “It’s just fucking horrific. . . .
I'm thinking, We're going to get through
this, we're going to get through this,
we're going to get through this. But,
you know, I haven’t seen the market
like this in thirty years. This is, like,
Depression.”

Nevertheless, after the market closed
Reserve Management reported that it
would be able to maintain a net asset value
of one dollar.

hatever officials at the Reserve
Management Company thought
of Paulson, when he returned to Wash-
ington he was greeted with overwhelm-
ing praise for having let Lehman fail.

Calls to his office, he says, some from
members of Congress, were running ten
to one in favor of the decision. “The gov-
ernment had to draw a line somewhere,”
the Wall Street Journalwrote in an edito-
rial. “Treasury Secretary Hank Paulson’s
refusal to blink won’t get any second
guessing from us.”

After reporting to President Bush,
Paulson met with reporters in the White
House briefing room. “As you know,
we're working through a difficult period
in our financial markets right now as we
work off some of the past excesses,” he
said. “But the American people can re-
main confident in the soundness and the
resilience of our financial system.”

Still, even as Paulson was speaking,
the Dow Jones Industrial Average was
dropping. By the end of the day, it was
down five hundred and four points, or
4.4 per cent—the biggest one-day per-
centage drop since the first day of trad-
ing after September 11, 2001. Traders,
aware of A.I.G.’s mounting collateral
calls and the ongoing meetings at the
New York Fed, were unloading posi-
tions. A.L.G. shares dropped sixty-one
per cent.

'The last remaining independent in-
vestment banks on Wall Street were hit
hard, too. Morgan Stanley shares dropped
fourteen per cent, and Goldman’s twelve
per cent.

t 11 A.M., for the fourth consecutive

day, investment bankers filed into
the New York Fed. “I don't think I can
take another day of this,” a Goldman
banker told Lloyd Blankfein as they got
out of the Goldman car.

“You're getting out of a Mercedes to
go to the New York Federal Reserve,”
Blankfein responded. “You're not get-
ting out of a Higgins boat on Omaha
Beach”

The subject of today’s meeting was
A.LG., where cash was vanishing at an
alarming rate. “There will be no public
support” for A.LG., Geithner announced.
He asked the bankers to explore an indus-
try solution. Earlier, he had called Robert
Willumstad and said that he wanted him
to appoint JPMorgan Chase, already
working for A.LG., and Goldman Sachs
to organize a syndicate of banks to reach
a solution.

By now, all of A.I.G.’s possible

rescuers had vanished. A person who




t spoke with potential buyers says, “They
i went from keenly interested to not
L wanting to touch it at any price.” By
| 5 P.M., the syndicate efforts had col-
- lapsed. Geithner had a Fed team work-
. ing on A.L.G., and at midnight he con-
_ vened the team, some of whose members
were participating by phone from Wash-
ington. “Can we let it go?” he asked.

ALG. Financial Prod-
ucts, the primary source of
the company’s current trou-
bles, had a $500-billion
credit-swaps portfolio that
fell outside the regulatory
purview of the Fed, the
Treasury, and the S.E.C.
The company’s failure to
honor those contracts and
make the payments would
render numerous banks
and other financial institu-
tions unstable as they wrote
down the value of suddenly
uninsured and unhedged
positions. This could pre-
cipitate a crisis of depositor
confidence and a global
bank run with “potentially
catastrophic unforeseen
consequences,” as A.I.G.
officials later put it in a
presentation to the Fed.
A.LG. did business in more
than a hundred and thirty
countries, and had a hun-
dred and sixteen thousand
employees and seventy-
four million customers, in-
cluding thirty million in
the U.S.

“Don’t do that,” Geithner said.

“Why not?” Willumstad asked. “Unless
you can tell me there’s a solution in place,
I'have an obligation to shareholders.”

“Don’t do it. I'll get back to you.”
Geithner hung up.

An hour passed. Hearing nothing,
Willumstad gave the order to draw
down the credit lines. Then, at eleven-

kets, but with little evident effect. Eu-
ropean central bankers were also grap-
pling with the rapid deterioration of
credit markets and were deeply con-
cerned about the impact of an A.LG.
failure on European financial institu-
tions and markets. Several European
central bankers had spoken with Ber-
nanke, urging the Fed to do whatever it
could to preventan A.I.G.
failure.

Several Fed staff mem-
bers, including the vice-
chairman, Donald Kohn,
and the governors Kevin
Warsh, Randall Kroszner,
and Elizabeth Duke, as-
sembled in Bernanke’s
office. Geithner and Paul-
son, participating by phone,
reported on A.L.G.s immi-
nent failure and the sys-
temic risks that that would
entail. There were no buy-
ers, no lenders.

Letting A.I.G. collapse
could be disastrous. “A.1.G.
was even larger than Leh-
man, with a substantial
presence in derivatives and
debt markets, as well as in
insurance markets,” Ber-
nanke later recalled. “Given
the extent of the exposures
of major banks around the
world to A.LG., and in light
of the extreme fragility of
the system, there was a
significant risk that A.1.G.s
failure could have sparked a
global banking panic. If that

As the discussion con-  Lehman’s failure was “the kiss of death” for America’s oldest money- had happened, it was not at

tinued, a consensus emerged
that A.LG. was indeed too
big, or at least too deeply
enmeshed in the global financial system,
to fail. At 2 A.M., Geithner urged every-

one to get some sleep.

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 16
Do you /?aw $85 billion?

hat morning, Willumstad called
Geithner again. He said that he
was planning to draw down the last of
A.LG/s credit lines that morning. Trad-
ers and investors would recognize such
a step as desperation, making bank-

ruptcy all but inevitable.

market fund, run by Bruce R. Bent, Sr., and his son Bruce Bent I,

thirty, Geithner called and told him that
an emergency meeting was under way at
the Fed in Washington about a poten-
tial solution. Willumstad hastily re-
scinded the order. -

It was becoming clear to Geithner
and Bernanke that government action
was the only recourse. Every financial
institution was struggling to value assets
at a time when there were fewer buyers
for them at any price. Financial institu-
tions were growing reluctant to lend to
one another, even overnight. That day,

the Fed put $70 billion into credit mar-

all clear that we would have
been able to stop the bleed-
ing, given the resources and
authorities we had available at that time.”

Geithner and Paulson proposed
extending an $85-billion loan that
would be collateralized by all of A.L.G.s
assets. A.LL.G. did have several large,
profitable businesses, including its main
insurance arm, which gave the Fed a
legal basis for making the loan. The
government would also demand a nearly
eighty-per-cent equity stake in A.L.G.
and would have the right to veto any
dividend payments.

“There was great reluctance,” one par-
ticipant recalls. “People were uncomfort-
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able. We'd just crossed another bound-
ary. AL.G. wasn’t a bank or a broker
dealer but an insurance company. Could
we have let it go? No one had any idea
what would happen if we let a company
this size fail. There was no precedent.
We were aware that lots of banks and in-
vestment banks were counterparties and
might be at risk, but we didn’t do this to
save Goldman, or SocGen, or Deutsche
Bank. It was far more complex. We were
worried about the households with
401(k) plans, life-insurance policies, and
pensions.”

The discussion lasted thirty minutes.
There was no real basis for knowing
whether A.1.G’s healthy businesses were
sufficient collateral. Still, Bernanke said
recently, “Lehman was insolvent and
didn’t have the collateral to secure the
amount of Federal Reserve lending that
would have been necessary to prevent its
collapse. In contrast, A.I.G. Financial
Products was just one division of a big,
global insurance company.” But some
Treasury and Fed participants recognized
that giving A.L.G. an $85-billion Joan so
soon after Lehman’s collapse would ap-
pear wildly inconsistent. “Opposite deci-
sions were made for apparently similar
reasons,” the Treasury official says. “Tt was
hard to justify. But A.I.G. was another
order of magnitude. It was a quantum
shift. It was so beyond anything we'd ever

envisioned.”

hat afternoon, President Bush, ac-

companied by Josh Bolten and Joel
Kaplan, his chief of staff and deputy chief
of staff, and by Keith Hennessey, the di-
rector of the National Economic Coun-
cil, sat down with Paulson and Bernanke
in the Roosevelt Room of the White
House. “So what is going on in our
financial system, and what are we going to
do?” Bush asked.

Paulson regularly delivered updates
to the White House, but from the out-
set of his tenure as Treasury Secretary
he had been making policy to an ex-
traordinary degree. Bush saw himself as
a wartime President, and he was deeply
involved in defense issues. The econ-
omy was secondary. One person who
worked with Bush for many years said,
“My sense is, this came up in the final
months of an eight-year term. He was
so ground down by Katrina, the war in
Iraq. He was just out of gas.” A govern-
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ment official added, “Hank Paulson and
the Treasury were unilaterally making
economic policy for the Administration.
There was no influence from the White
House.”

“A.LG. is about to fail,” Paulson told
Bush, warning that a potential collapse

was likely to be catastrophic, especially
with markets still highly unstable after the

them through failure, but we're not doing
something right if we're stuck with these
miserable choices.”

espite efforts to calm shareholders in
the Primary Fund, Bruce Bent II re-
ported to the board that morning that re-

demption requests as of 9 A.M. stood at
$24.6 billion. He also told the board that

Bush accepted Paulson and Bernanke’s arguments about the necessity of government
action to save A.LG., but he couldn’t help wondering, “How have we come to the point
where we can't let an institution fail without affecting the whole economy 27

Lehman failure. Bernanke explained
A1.G/s credit-default swaps and the
likely consequences that A.LGs failure
would have on major U.S. and European
banks. He also described the limits on the
Fed’s powers to deal with an institution
like A.LG.

“How have we come to the point
where we can't let an institution fail with-
out affecting the whole economy?” Bush
wondered aloud.

Bernanke reiterated that what had
begun as a subprime-mortgage problem
in the U.S. was emerging as a global cri-
sis, which made it even harder for the Fed
to combat the problems on its own.

When Bernanke and Paulson finished,
Bush said, “Sometimes you have to make
the tough decisions. If you think this has
to be done, you have my blessing.” But, as
he rose to leave, he said, “Someday you

guys are going to need to tell me how we-

ended up with a system like this. I know
this is not the time to test them and put

Reserve Management had not arranged
any credit facility or injected any capital to
maintain the one-dollar net asset value.
And State Street had refused to extend ad-
ditional overdraft privileges to the fund.
The parent company, Reserve, did not
have adequate capital to buy the Lehman
assets at par. The Bents were unable to in-
ject any of their own personal funds, con-
trary to representations they had made the
previous day.

At 3:45 .M., Bent II told the board
that he had called the New York Fed for
assistance in meeting shareholder redemp-
tions but had been turned down, and that

_total redemption requests were now ap-

proximately $40 billion. With no buyers
for the fund’s L.ehman securities, the board
had no choice but to vote to reduce their
value to zero. For the first time in forty
years, the buck was officially broken. The
company issued a terse press release:

The value of the debt securities issued by
Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. (face value




= ¢785 million), and held by the Primary Fund

| has been valued at zero effective as of 4:00p.M.

b New York time today. As a result, the NAV of

- the Primary Fund, effective as of 4:00 P.M., is
$0.97 a share.

Of the many possible consequences of
a Lehman failure, no one seems to have
' thought about the collapse of a money-
market fund; it was a development that
. was “unanticipated,” a Fed official said.
' (The S.E.C. eventually charged the
L Bents and the Reserve Management
- Company with civil fraud for allegedly
- making false and misleading statements
about the fund’s financial state. The Bents
countered that they didn't profit them-
selves and were simply trying to “save the
fund” and protect investors. They moved
to dismiss the suit, which is pending.)

L ate in the afternoon, Willumstad and
other A.L.G. executives and their
Jawyers and advisers gathered in a confer-
ence room outside Willumstad's office to
examine the terms of the proposed loan
that had just arrived from the Fed. After
reading them, Richard Beattie, a partner
at the law firm Simpson Thacher & Bart-
lett, representing A.1.G’s board, turned
to Willumstad. “You're now working for
the federal government,” he said. “They
own you now.”

The terms gave the government a
79.9-per-cent stake and saddled ALG.
with an onerous interest rate of 11.5 per
cent.

Willumstad’s assistant interrupted to
say that the Secretary of the Treasury and
the president of the New York Fed were
on the line. Willumstad and Beattie
stepped outside to take the call. '

“Thhis is the only offer,” Geithner said.
“There is no negotiation.”

Paulson jumped in: “There is one
more condition. Bob, you're going to be
replaced.” -

After Willumstad hung up, he re-
turned to the conference room. “Dick was
wrong,” he said. “T'm not working for the
federal government.”

A t 6 P.M., most of the House and Sen-
ate leadership, summoned on short
notice, gathered in Senate Majority Leader
Harry Reid's conference room for a briefing
L by Paulson and Bernanke. Paulson an-
- nounced that the Fed had decided to loan
A.1.G. $85 billion and essentially seize
control of the company under the Fed's

emergency powers. Bernanke pointed out
that A.L.G. stock was one of the ten most
widely held in 401(k) retirement accounts.

Reid put his face in his hands. “Thope
you understand this does not constitute
formal approval by Congress to take ac-
tion,” he said.

“Do you have eighty-five billion?”
Representative Barney Frank asked.

“I have eight hundred billion,” Ber-
nanke said, referring to the Fed’s balance
sheet.

Senator Christopher Dodd twice
asked how the Fed had the authority to
lend to, and take control of, an insurance
company. Bernanke argued that the Fed
had emergency powers to aid any com-
pany as long as there was a “systemic risk,”
and gave a brief tutorial on a little-known
section of the Fed’s authorizing statute.

Bernanke said that even this step
might not be enough. Legislation au-
thorizing additional aid probably would
be needed as well.

WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER (7
We need to get ahead of this.

sian and European stock markets had
dropped sharply, and trading was
halted in Russia. News that the Primary
Fund had broken the buck had called into
question the safety and viability of the
global money-market industry. The rescue
of ALG. gave the U.S. government not
only 79.9 per cent of A.LGs equity but
also priority over A.LG.’s bondholders,
who wouldn't be paid until the government
was reimbursed. A number of money-mar-
ket funds owned securities issued by ALG.
Already, money-market redemption
requests were surging; on Tuesday alone,

" they had been $33.8 billion, compared

with a total of $4.9 billion for the entire
previous week. Large money-market funds,
including Fidelity, Vanguard, and Dreytus,
rushed to issue statements reassuring inves-
tors that their holdings were safe and would
retain their one-dollar-per-share value, but
that didn’t seem to stem the tide. Even
more worrisome, funds that had no expo-
sure to troubled securities were confronting
huge redemptions. Putnam announced
that it would close and liquidate the
$12.3-billion Institutional Prime Money
Market Fund, even though the fund owned

no Lehman or A.LG. securities and main-

tained its one-dollar share value. (Share-
holders didn’t lose any money.)

In the face of mounting redemptions,
money-market funds raced to sell whatever
they could find buyers for, but there were
no buyers for all but the safest, shortest-
term securities. Early that moming, Paul-
son had a disturbing phone conversation
with Jeffrey Immelt, the chief executive of
General Electric. Immelt reported that the
capital markets were “very bad,” and Paul-
son said he understood that the commer-
cial-paper markets were under stress.
“That's bad for GE,” Immelt replied. Like
most large corporations, GE uses the com-
mercial-paper market to fund its day-to-
day operations, including those of GE
Capital, its huge finance arm. GE was
worried about its ability to roll over its
short-term debt, and the previous day had
paid 3.5 per cent, much higher than nor-
mal, for an overnight loan. (The lower-
rated Ford Motor Credit reportedly had to
pay 7.5 per cent.) For companies like GE,
the uncertainty was as debilitating as the
high rates.

The Treasury official described the sit-
uation: “Lehman Brothers begat the Re-
serve collapse, which begat the money-
market run, so the money-market funds
wouldn’t buy commercial paper. The com-
mercial-paper market was on the brink of
destruction. At this point, the banking sys-

" tem stops functioning. You're pulling four

trillion out of the private sector’ —money-
market funds—“and giving it to the gov-
ernment in the form of T-bills. That was
commercial paper funding GE, Citigroup,
FedEx, all the commercial-paper issuers.
This was systemic risk. Suddenly, you have
a global bank holiday.”

Horrific as GEs situation threatened
to become, Paulson had more immediate
problems. Overnight, the cost of buying
default protection against Morgan Stan-
ley and Goldman Sachs had soared. Short
sellers began targeting Morgan Stanley’s
stock, which infuriated John Mack, who .
called on the S.E.C. to restrict such spec-
ulation. There was the danger of a col-
lapse in confidence in both Goldman and
Morgan Stanley, as had happened with
Lehman.

After Lehman’s bankruptcy, regulators
froze the assets of Lehman Brothers in Eu-
rope, which included many hedge funds.
“T got panicked phone calls from hedge
funds,” the Treasury official says. “They
couldn’t get their securities. That was not
supposed to be the deal. So people started
running on Morgan Stanley and Gold-
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“‘Officer, everything in the world is botherin g me.”

man Sachs. The fire line broke down.”

Paulson obtained from a Treasury
lawyer a waiver of conflict-of-interest re-
strictions on conversations about gov-
ernment assistance for Goldman. The
lawyer ruled that “the magnitude of the
government’s interest” outweighed any
ethics concerns. Over the next few days,
the Times has reported, Paulson’s calen-
dar indicates that he spoke to Lloyd
Blankfein, Goldman’s C.E.O., more
than twenty times and to Morgan Stan-
ley’s John Mack a dozen times.

P aulson’s office, which overlooked the
White House, was jammed with Trea-

sury officials for an emergency meeting at -

8 A.M. Bernanke, Kevin Warsh, and other
Fed staff members were on the phone, as
was Geithner, along with his staff, in New
York. Paulson had been up most of the
night watching overseas markets.

“We're at the precipice,” Paulson told
the group. “Nothing is breaking our way.
We can't solve the problems of today; we
need to think of tomorrow. We need to get
ahead of this. It’s deepening, moving too
quickly. This is the financial equivalent of
‘wat, and we're going to need wartime pow-
ers.” Bernanke and Geithner agreed. Paul-
son divided the group into teams. “The
government needs money, and it needs au-
thority,” Paulson said. “If you had a blank
sheet of paper, tell me what you need.”
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That day, as investors rushed to the
safety of short-term U.S. Treasury bonds,
yields on three-month Treasury notes
dipped below zero. “We watched the
market for T-bills very closely,” Donald
Kohn, the Fed’s vice-chairman, recalls.
“You knew there was complete panic, and
it was spreading.”

At the White House, calls were pour-
ing in from throughout the financial
world. “Even strangers were cold-calling
me,” Keith Hennessey recalls. “They were
all saying, ‘We see the beginnings of a
run—a run on the financial system.’ The
money funds were experiencing a run.
People were literally pulling their money
out and putting it in a mattress. Treasury
rates went negative! People were locking
in a loss just to protect their money.”

Geithner said, “It's hard to describe
how bad it was and how bad it felt.” He
gota call from a “titan of the financial sys-
tem,” who said he was worried but he was
doing fine. His voice was quavering. After
hanging up, Geithner immediately called
the man back. “Don’t call anyone else,”
Geithner said. “If anyone hears your voice,
you'll scare the shit out of them.”

he day’s turmoil was reflected in the
U.S. markets. The Dow Jones aver-
age dropped four hundred and forty-nine
points; it had fallen seven per cent in just
three days of trading and was twenty-

three per cent below its level the previous
year, which made it a bear market. Mor-
gan Stanley shares fell twenty-four per
cent and Goldman Sachs dropped nearly
fourteen per cent; CNBC began run-
ning Morgan Stanley and Goldman stock
quotes at the top of the screen, in what
some called a “death watch.” Washington
Mutual dropped thirteen per cent, and
Wachovia fell twenty-one per cent.

“It was chaotic,” Blankfein recalls of
the rumors about Goldman’s survival.
“There were people taking deep breaths,
including me from time to time.” He wor-
ried that a collapse in confidence, even if
unjustified, would become a self-fulfilling
prophecy.

AtMorgan Stanley, it was worse. “The
hedge funds panicked,” 2 Morgan Stan-
ley executive recalls, and by Wednesday
things had reached a fever pitch. “Every-
one said the investment-banking model
was dead.” Longtime friends and clients
of John Mack called him to say that they
were sorry but they had to withdraw their
Morgan Stanley funds. “Do what you
have to do,” he told them.

That afternoon, Mack issued a memo
to his employees: “It’s very clear to me—
we're in the midst of a market controlled
by fear and rumors, and short sellers are
driving our stock down.” Geithner and
Paulson told Mack that he had to follow
the lead of Merrill Lynch and find a part-
ner. Since the collapse of Bear Stearns, in
March, Geithner had periodically sug-
gested that the remaining investment
banks become bank holding companies,
gaining access to the Fed’s discount win-
dow and other credit facilities in return for
accepting regulation by the Fed. Morgan
Stanley and Goldman Sachs had talked
about it to their boards, but nothing had
happened. A faster way to the same end
would be for the investment banks to
merge with a commercial bank. Although
the big commercial banks, with their large
depositor bases, were still viewed as reli-
able sources of liquidity, Mack considered
their balance sheets to be more precarious
than his own. And, indeed, Wachovia
had to be saved in a matter of weeks, and
Citigroup eventually had to be rescued.

Still, Mack did speak to Vikram Pan-
dit, of Citigroup, about a possible merger,
but they jointly concluded that it made no
sense. Geithner suggested that Gold-
man’s Blankfein call Pandit. Blankfein
made the call, thinking that he was sup-




| posed to rescue Citi. He was dumb-
founded when he discovered that Pandit
wasn't expecting to hear from him. For his
part, Pandit was taken aback that Gold-
man thought it might be able to buy Citi,
since at the time Pandit felt that Citi was
much stronger.

That afternoon, Mack, speaking to
Blankfein, bemoaned the effect of short
sellers, whose actions were unnerving in-
- vestors. The previous weekend, at the

Fed, Mack had complained about the
impact of short sellers on Lehman, and
asked Blankfein if he would support an
effort to get the SE.C. to ban short sell-
| ing. Blankfein had demurred. But now
| he said, “We've rethought the need for a
temporary ban.” They agreed to press the
issue with Paulson and Geithner.

t six that evening, Bernanke met with
his top aides—Donald Kohn; Kevin
- Warsh; Scott G. Alvarez, the general coun-
sel; and Michelle Smith, the spokesper-
son—with Paulson and Geithner partici-
pating by speakerphone. “We cannot do
this alone anymore,” he said. “We have to
go to Congress and get some authority.”

Paulson hadn’t yet taken any concrete
steps to enlist legislators to authorize a
government rescue. Paulson reiterated his
concern about getting congressional lead-
ers to go along. “I spoke to Harry and
Nancy’—Harry Reid and Nancy Pelosi,
the House Speaker—“and the political
advisers,” he said. “If the Treasury and the
Fed say it's an emergency and we need
help, and help doesn’t come, it would fur-
ther destabilize the markets. You don’t go
public until you're reasonably certain youl
get what you're asking for.”

Bernanke was growing agitated.

- “Hank! Listen to me,” he interrupted.
[ ‘”
We are done!

It was the first time Fed officials had
heard him raise his voice.

“The Fed is already doing all that it can
with the powers we have,” Bernanke con-
- tinued. One participant recalled, “Ben
' gave an impassioned, linear, rigorous ar-
gument explaining the limits of our au-
[ thority and the history of financial crises
 in the U.S. and abroad.” That history
- showed that efforts to resolve such crises
“are successful only when overwhelm-
ing force from all parts of government is
| brought to bear,” the participant said. “It
- was an encyclopedic tour de force.”

It was as though Bernanke were the

professor and Paulson the student. Ber-
nanke’s comments lasted about fifteen
minutes, and Paulson was uncharacteris-
tically silent until near the end.

“Got to go,” he said, and hung up.

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 18

You can sort it out later!

The Fed group reconvened at six-thirty
that morning. They had decided the

night before that repetition would be
helpful, so Bernanke started on the same
lecture. Thirty seconds into it, Paulson in-
terrupted. “Ben, Ben, Ben ...” Bernanke
stopped talking. “Tve done some think-
ing,” Paulson said. “You and I should go
see the President and then go to Congress
tonight and ask for more authority.”

At 10:15 A.M., President Bush deliv-
ered a two-minute televised statement
outside the Oval Office, his first public
pronouncement since the crisis began,

which concluded:

Our financial markets continue to deal
with serious challenges. As our recent actions
demonstrate, my Administration is focussed on
meeting these challenges. The American people

can be sure we will continue to act to strengthen
and stabilize our financial markets and im-
prove investor confidence.

hen staffers again huddled in

Paulson’s office, Paulson wanted
to know what ideas they had come up
with. Asian and European markets were
continuing to plunge, with banks and
insurers bearing the brunt of the losses.
Britain announced a monthlong ban on
short selling in an effort to prevent the
kind of “bear raids” that some blamed
for the fall in Lehman’s stock. Russia
had suspended trading for the previous
two days. Morgan Stanley shares had
plunged twenty-four per cent the previ-
ous day.

Paulson had just heard that Bank of
America was temporarily pulling back on
credit lines to some McDonald's franchi-
sees, slowing a McDonald’s expansion
into upscale coffee drinks to compete with
Starbucks. (Bank of America disputes this
account, but McDonald’s did issue a memo
urging franchisees to find other sources of
credit, according to Bloomberg.)

Dan Jester, 2 Goldman vice-president
whom Paulson had brought to the Trea-

“There’s something you haven t told me.”




sury Department that summer, reported
that one approach would be for the gov-
ernment to inject capital directly into
financial institutions. The standard way to
raise capital is to sell stock. There were
now no private buyers. But, as one partic-
ipant put it, was the government going “to
ALG. them™ If the government bought

common stock, it would have the power-

to vote, appoint management and the
board of directors, and, if the stake was
big enough, control the company. Might
this end up being “nationalization” The
politics looked awful. Even so, Jester and
most of his team argued that the approach
was simple, efficient, and effective, and
would protect taxpayers.

Bernanke had long been saying that the
government needed many tools to respond
to the unforesceable, including the ability
to buy “bad companies” as well as “bad as-
sets.” But Paulson told Bernanke he feared
that direct investments would destabilize
markets and drive out private investors.

Another option was to remove the bad
assets from balance sheets. The Resolu-
tion Trust Corporation, created by Con-
gress in 1989, had used taxpayer money
to buy and then auction off distressed
real estate from failing savings-and-
loans. Though some people criticized the
agency for dumping assets on the market
too quickly and selling at fire-sale prices,
the approach established a floor for real-
estate prices. This approach not only had
worked in the past but would avoid the

charged issue of government ownership.

Several people, however, noted that
there were major differences between tan-
gible real estate and the esoteric mortgage-
backed securities and other structured as-
sets now on balance sheets. Houses and
land could be auctioned and find buyers,
as they have been for centuries. But, with-
out any functioning market for mortgage-
backed debt, how would you value it and
what would the government pay? If the
amount was too small, bank balance sheets
would be devastated by the sales and sub-
sequent write-downs, making the crisis
worse. If too big, it was simply a transfer of
wealth from taxpayers to banks and other
financial institutions. Neel Kashkari, an as-
sistant Treasury secretary and an ex-Gold-
man investment banker, who was the big-
gest proponent of removing bad assets
from balance sheets, argued that the me-
chanics could always be worked out once
Congress had given the Treasury and the
Fed the authority to act.

Steven Shafran and others who had
focussed on liquidity issues proposed al-
lowing money-market funds to borrow
from the Fed, using their commercial pa-
per and other assets as collateral. But
Paulson thought that this was too techni-
cal for the average money-market-fund
investor and wouldn't be enough to stop a
run. “What would you do if you want to
address all the issues?”

“We could always just guarantee the
money-market funds,” Shafran said.

Paulson looked up. “Could we?”

“I think so,” Shafran said.

Paulson slammed his hand down on
his desk. “Then that's what we're going
to do.” :

A few participants were aghast. The
risks seemed enormous: it was a four-
trillion-dollar guarantee! Even the
F.D.I.C. insured bank accounts only up
to a hundred thousand dollars. More-
over, money-market funds weren’t bank
deposits but investment products with
higher risks and therefore higher re-
turns. By eliminating that risk, another
cornerstone of moral hazard was being
removed.

But others argued that the risk of not
doing anything, or of doing too little, was
far worse. Paulson embraced the boldness
and simplicity of the notion. As someone
said, it “passed the US4 Today test.”

P aulson and Bernanke returned to the
Roosevelt Room, joined this time by
Chris Cox, of the S.E.C. Vice-President
Dick Cheney was also there, along with
Bush.

Paulson outlined the decision of the
Treasury, backed by the Fed, to seck
legislation authorizing the purchase of
billions of dollars in troubled mortgage-
backed assets. “It would be wise to go to
Congress,” Bernanke said, arguing that
capital should be approved by Congress
and dispensed by the appropriate author-
ity, the Treasury, rather than by the Fed,
an institution already doing all it could
with the powers it had.

“You're the experts, and I'll support
you,” Bush said.

Paulson Jaunched into a discussion of
the political issues, and the need to win
over conservative Republicans as well as
the Democratic leadership.

The President interrupted. “Hank, let
me worry about the politics. You do what
is right.”

As word spread that a more compre-
hensive approach to the crisis might be
under way, stocks soared in near-frenzied
trading. The Dow closed up four hundred
and ten points, with the biggest surge in
six years.

At 7 P.M., Bernanke, Paulson, and
Cox met with congressional leaders
in Speaker Pelosi’s conference room, over-
looking the Mall. After photographers

and press representatives were asked to




leave, Paulson addressed the group. “We
are in danger of a broad systemic collapse,
and action needs to be taken urgently to
" head it off,” he said. “We need the author-
. ity to spend several hundred billion.”

Cox invoked his former colleagues’
memories of September 11th, “We did
extraordinary things then for the good of
the country,” he said. “This is what has to
happen again, even if it is just weeks be-
fore an election.”

Bernanke pointed out that he was a
historian and a student of the Great De-
pression. “The kind of financial collapse
that we're now on the brink of is always
followed by a deep, long recession,” he
said. “If we aren't able to head this off,
the next generation of economists will
be writing not about the thirties but
about this.”

Someone asked what the scenario
looked like.

Bernanke was cautious. He didn’t
want to be accused of exaggerating the
danger. “You could see a twenty-per-
cent decline in the stock market, unem-
ployment at nine to ten per cent, the
failure of G.M., certainly, and other

" - large corporate failures. It would be

very bad.”

The tone of the two most powerful
men in the financial world was as fright-
ening as their words. Questions shifted
to Paulson.

What are you going to do with the
money?

Paulson stressed the need to buy toxic
assets, but resisted questions about how
that would work. Spencer Bachus, the
ranking member of the House Commit-
tee on Financial Services, asked about in-
jecting capital directly into banks. Paulson
said that he would consider it.

The legislators pressed on how much
money would be needed. Paulson finally
said, “Several hundred billion means sev-
eral hundred billion.”

“You've got to understand, Mr. Sec-
retary,” Barney Frank said. “This cannot
be seen as just a Wall Street bailout.”
He said that executive compensation
and foreclosures needed to be addressed.
“There’s too much anger out there,” he
added. :

Paulson didn’t want to get sidetracked
by issues that he considered extraneous to
the immediate crisis. He knew that if the
government tried to cap pay then no one
on Wall Street would participate—a state

‘Someday when you have a kid of your own and you feel the urge to
arbitrarily say no just because you can, you'll understand.”

of affairs that Frank later said he found
“terribly depressing.”

“Without a functioning banking
system, things will get much worse on
Main Street,” Paulson countered. He also
stressed that congressional action had
to be taken before the markets opened
on Monday, or more major institutions
might collapse. :

- And what would happen if such legis-
lation failed in Congress?

Paulson paused for a moment. “In that
case, God help us all”

Barmney Frank and Chris Dodd indi-
cated that Congress would codperate,
but with some conditions. According to
the Times, Majority Leader Reid added,
“You have no idea what you’re asking me
to do. It takes me forty-eight hours to
get the Republicans to flush the toilet.”

The meeting lasted ninety minutes.
Reid, Pelosi, and Paulson agreed to speak
at a press conference. Someone sug-
gested that a Republican also speak, but
Richard Shelby, of Alabama, a conserva-
tive and the ranking Republican on the
Senate Banking Committee, interjected,
“Y’all don’t want me to speak.” The

laughter helped lighten the mood. The
group agreed to make only brief, general
comments about what was discussed at

~ the meeting.

Once Paulson had decided on insur-
ing money-market funds in their
entirety, it fell to staff members at the
Treasury to figure out how to make
it happen. They had less than twenty-
four hours to implement a program that
ordinarily would have taken weeks of
study. David Nason, another assistant
Treasury secretary, called leading money-
market funds to gauge their reaction.
Several members of the executive com-
mittee of the Investment Company In-
stitute, a national association of U.S. in-
vestment companies, including Vanguard,
Invesco, T. Rowe Price, and Fidelity,
opposed a federal insurance program.
‘All they wanted was a Fed facility that
would address their liquidity issues.
They feared that insuring money-mar-
ket funds could be destabilizing. Nason
told them, “You're getting this whether
you want it or not.”

“But it's a liquidity issue,” John Bren-
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nan, the head of Vanguard, persisted.

“That’s not where the Secretary is,”
Nason replied. “This is about confidence,
investors feeling safe. Each time we've
hoped for a break, we didn't get it. We're
using overwhelming force.” Most funds
eventually agreed to participate. They
had little choice. Once Treasury an-
nounced such a plan, and even one fund
participated in the guarantee program,
investors might abandon funds without
the guarantee.

Early Friday morning, the Treasury
announced a temporary guarantee pro-
gram for money-market funds in order to
protect “the integrity and stability of the
global financial system.”

Chris Cox convened an emergency
meeting of the S.E.C. that evening
to consider a ban on short selling, which
Blankfein and Mack felt was necessary
to save Goldman and Morgan Stanley.
Cox was probably the most free-mar-
ket-oriented of the group, and a ban on
short selling went deeply against the
grain. The ability to sell short—to profit
on astock's decline—has long been seen
as critical to market integrity, enhancing
liquidity and the flow of information. In
fact, before that day none of the five
commission members supported such a
ban. During calls that day and the pre-
vious day, however, government offi-
cials came out in favor of 2 ban. And in
one such call, when Cox said that he
was worried about unintended conse-
quences, Paulson grew impatient. “You
can sort it out later!” he said. “You have
to save them now or they'll be gone
~ while you're still thinking about it.”

At the meeting that night, the S.E.C.
commissioners were informed that the
Treasury and the Fed supported urgent ac-
tion. In light of this, and the fact that the
UK. had taken a similar step earlier that
day, the commission voted unanimously to
temporarily ban short selling in seven hun-
dred and ninety-nine financial stocks.

FRIDAY, SEPTEMBER |9
Big enough to make a difference.

ust before the U.S. markets opened,
Paulson issued a statement report-
ing on the previous night's meeting
and launching a campaign for a “compre-
hensive approach” to resolve the crisis.
He outlined a “troubled-asset relief
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program™—TARP—which would remove
“illiquid assets that are weighing down
our financial institutions and threatening
our economy.”

News of an insurance program for
money-market funds and a compre-
hensive approach to the root causes of
the crisis—no matter how ill defined—
ignited a euphoric rally on Wall Street.
"The Dow Jones average rose four hun-
dred points.

At ten-forty-five, President Bush,
flanked by Paulson, Bernanke, and Cox,
addressed the country from the Rose Gar-
den. “This is a pivotal moment for Amer-
ica’s economy,” he began, and went on:

Our system of free enterprise rests on the
conviction that the federal government should
interfere in the marketplace only when neces-
sary. Given the precarious state of today’s
financial markets—and their vital importance
to the daily lives of the American people—

government intervention is not only war-
ranted; it is essential.

“There were plenty of people around
the President who just wanted the free
market to work,” Paulson told me. “He
freed me from all of that. He wanted there
to be a free market left for all of us to work
with. People don’t want to hear this. They
don't like him. They want to see him as
disengaged. But he was very focussed on
what was best for the country.”

[-\ {l organ Stanley and Goldman Sachs

got a brief reprieve as speculators
began to buy back shares and cover the
short positions, but the situation of the
two firms remained desperate.

Soon Goldman’s Blankfein called
Mack again. “What do you think of this
bank-holding-company idea?” Blank-
fein asked. Geithner was saying that
they could complete the paperwork and
become bank holding companies that
weekend. “T don’t know—what do you
think?” Mack asked. Neither acknowl-
edged to the other that he was going to
pursue it. But both knew that the sur-
vival of their firms was at stake. “You've
got to hang in there,” Blankfein told
Mack. “We're very supportive of you,
but if you go under there will be imme-
diate pressure on us.”

On Friday afternoon, Paulson, in a
teleconference with Geithner and
other Fed and S.E.C. officials, said that
it was time for President Bush to call
the Chinese government in an effort to

N

reassure it that, if it came to the aid of
Morgan Stanley, it could count on U.S.
government support. The Chinese
were understandably cool to the pros-
pect, since the China Investment Cor-
poration, an arm of the government,
had already made a $5.6-billion in-
vestment in Morgan Stanley in 2007,
and had watched the value of its stake
plunge in the ensuing financial turmoil.
Chinese attempts to invest in some
American companies (such as the oil
producer Unocal) had caused a pol-
itical uproar, and the idea of the Chi-
nese increasing their stake in Morgan
Stanley worried some people. But
Geithner wasn’t especially concerned
about which country invested in Mor-
gan Stanley, as long as it complied with
applicable laws.

On Friday evening, Morgan Stan-
ley’s chief financial officer got a call
from the head of the firm’s Tokyo
office, reporting that Mitsubishi U.F J.,
the large Japanese bank, was interested
in negotiating a stake. John Mack was
wary, given what he perceived as the
glacial pace of Japanese dealmaking.
Nonetheless, he said, “Send them
over.”

The following morning, a Chinese
delegation, led by Gao Xiging, the vice-
chairman of the C.I.C., arrived in New
York to meet with Morgan Stanley
executives.

Later, Paulson spoke to his Chinese
counterpart, Wang Qishan, the vice-
premier for economic affairs. President
Bush also spoke to President Hu Jintao.
According to one person briefed on
that conversation, Bush reassured Hu
that the U.S. was addressing the crisis
and explained the policy steps it was
taking. (A spokesperson for Bush de-
clined to comment.)

Paulson’s legislative team, drafting
the TARP legislation, consulted with
Fed officials but stuck to Paulson’s view
that the bill had to focus on buying as-
sets rather than on making direct capi-
tal investments—buying “bad assets”
rather than “bad companies.” The final
draft was only a few pages long,
In Section 6, it stated:

The Secretary’s authority to purchase
mortgage-related assets under this Act shall be
limited to $700,000,000,000 outstanding at
any one time.




At last, the bill had a price tag, des-
 ignated by Paulson on impulse: the
| worldwide market for mortgage-backed
| securities was about $1.4 trillion; seven
' hundred billion was half that. It was
| big enough to make a difference,” Paul-

| son says.
EPILOGUE

1 Late on Sunday, September 21st, the
] Federal Reserve announced that
- Goldman Sachs and Morgan Stanley had
| become bank holding companies, bring-
 ing to an end the tradition of independent
investment banks on Wall Street. Despite
the arrival of the Chinese delegation, Mor-
gan Stanley ultimately sold twenty-one
per cent of the company to the Japanese
bank, Mitsubishi, for $9 billion. “The
Chinese left in a huff,” a Morgan Stanley
executive recalls. (The Chinese govern-
ment declined to comment.) On Tuesday,
Goldman Sachs announced that Warren
Buffett was buying five billion dollars’
worth of preferred stock. On Wednesday,
Goldman raised another five billion in a
public offering of common stock. The
moves staved off what had seemed the
imminent collapse of the firms.

Although Barclays did not buy all
of Lehman Brothers, it bought what
it really wanted—Lehman’s North
American investment-banking opera-
tions and its presence on Wall Street—
for just $250 million. It paid $1.5 billion
for Lehman’s Manhattan headquarters
and other real estate. Bob Diamond
called the deal a “once-in-a-lifetime op-
portunity,” and just a few months later
Barclays showed a gain of $3.5 billion on
' the transaction.

The initial bipartisan support for emer-
gency legislative action turned to hostility
once the $700-billion number was at-
tached to the bill. Senators and represen-
tatives from both parties reported that
calls from constituents were overwhelm-
ingly against the proposal.

On September 29th, the House voted
down the legislation. Global markets went
into convulsions, the Dow dropped seven
hundred and seventy-eight points, and
credit markets stayed frozen. Bamey Fr:
comparing Congress to a wayward child,
counselled a nearly distraught Paulson,
“Sometimes you have to let the kid run
away from home. He gets hungry, he
comes back.” Thanks to fierce lobbying,

the legislation, much modified and ex-
panded to four hundred pages, passed,

“on October 3rd. “Troubled assets” were

redefined to include not just mortgage-re-
lated assets but “any other financial instru-
ment” deemed necessary to stabilize the
financial system.

In the end, the Treasury didn't buy
the troubled assets. Instead, it chose to

TARP funds and $420 billion in guaran-
tees. Stabilizing A.L.G. cost taxpayers
$180 billion. To combat the crisis, the
size of the Fed’s balance sheet—$850
billion before the Lehman collapse—
grew to $2 trillion. General Motors and
Chrysler filed for bankruptcy protection,
along with nearly a hundred and fifty

other public companies—an increase of

As John Mack, of Morgan Stanley, and Lloyd Blankfein, of Goldman Sachs,
discussed turning their -firms into bank holding companies, they knew that the survival
of both banks was at stake. “You've got to hang in there,” Blankfein said.

inject capital directly into the banks, as
Bernanke, Geithner, and some at Trea-
sury had suggested all along. On Octo-
ber 13th, Paulson summoned the heads
of the country’s nine most systemically
important banks (including the newest
bank holding companies, Morgan Stan-
ley and Goldman Sachs) and explained
the terms on which the government
would extend to them and others a total
of $250 billion in capital. (To avoid the
taint of “nationalization,” the govern-
ment took preferred stock, which carried
no voting rights.)

During the next year, the recession
that, in Bernanke’s words, inevitably fol-
lows a financial panic drove unemploy-
ment to 9.7 per cent. The economic cri-
sis, the worst since the Depression,
destroyed household and retirement
savings, pensions, insurance funds, and
endowments. Eighty-nine banks have
failed this year. Bank of America and
Citigroup together got $90 billion in

more than a hundred per cent from the
previous year. By March of 2009, nearly
nineteen hundred hedge funds had gone
out of business.

Bernanke and Paulson both told me
that the effects of Lehman’s collapse were
worse than they anticipated, and they had
expected them to be bad. The question
persists: Could Lehman’s collapse have
been avoided? Paulson and Bernanke have
argued that it couldn’t. The Fed has stat-
utory emergency powers to lend to non-
banks, but only against what it deems ad-
equate collateral. Lehman, unlike AlG,
with its healthy insurance businesses,
didr’t have such collateral. This argument
seems to have first surfaced on October
15th, in a speech by Bernanke and in a
statement attributed to Paulson by the
wire service Market News International.
“There’s no law that any of us could have
used,” Paulson reiterated to me. .

But Lehman clearly had some solid col-
lateral, even if not enough for a govern-
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ment takeover of a collapsing firm. The
very day Lehman failed, the assets from its
broker-dealer operations were deemed ac-
ceptable as collateral for a series of short-
term multibillion-dollar loans from the
Fed. In order to insure an orderly winding
down, the Fed loaned the broker-dealer
unit $62.8 billion on Monday, Septem-~
ber 15th, $47.7 billion on Tuesday, and
$48.9 billion on Wednesday. (When Bar-
clays bought the unit, it repaid the out-
standing Fed loans.) In testimony this
summer, Paulson said, “The Fed was able
to loan against Lehman collateral and did
" loan to help facilitate liquidation and bank-
ruptcy.” (He did stipulate that a Fed loan

would not have saved Lehman Brothers.)

It seems likely that such collateral might
also have been adequate to support a rescue
on the Bear Stearns model.

Paulson and other regulators stress,
however, that there was no buyer to play
the role for Lehman that JPMorgan Chase
had played in the rescue of Bear Stearns.
Had Paulson said from the outset that a
government-assisted deal was possible, a
buyer might have emerged. Instead, he
summoned Wall Street’s chief executives
to the Fed, where he said emphatically that
there would be no government assistance,
as had already been indicated to the press.
If this was simply a tough negotiating tac-
tic, Paulson may have overplayed his hand.
He succeeded in getting the Wall Street
firms to codperate, which would have pro-
vided welcome political cover from likely
hostile reaction to another government
bailout, but he failed to secure a buyer. Still,
he came close. An orderly sale of Lehman
to Barclays, with backing from Wall Street,
the U.S., and perhaps the British govern-
ment, might have been within reach. If so,
at the highest levels of the American and
British governments there was a breathtak-
ing failure to communicate.

Paulson, Geithner, and Bernanke
worked tirelessly to save Lehman—within
the limits that they believed to be feasible.
And those limits, in light of the public
hostility toward bailouts of any kind, were
formidable. As the Treasury official told
me, “With Lehman Brothers, you said
the market has to police itself. It was a di-
saster. With A.L.G., you say you have to
protect the system, and that’s a disaster!
It’s a Hobson'’s choice. You're not go-
ing to win.” Even so, Geithner says,
“If we had had the authority to prevent a
system threat, I would have been pre-

80 THE NEW YORKER, SEPTEMBER 2I, 2009

MOTHER’S QUAIL
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of quail, tonic

of quail, each her own

failure,

boozy and flushed
from briar by a panic
gripped from kin

to kin,

‘so they hover—
mother and daughter
and daughter
and daughter—
large-bodied, terrified,
though nobody

wants them.

pared to act despite the political costs.”

Today, it is widely accepted that the fail-
ure of Lehman was indeed a disaster. Its un-
intended and unforeseen consequences—
the run on money-market funds most of
all—could arguably have been avoided. Yet
saving Lehman would not have addressed
the broader problem: the capital shortage
in the global banking system. It took a cri-
sis of Lehman’s proportions to motivate
Congress to act, and, even then, it voted
down the TARP legislation the first time.

Lehman'’s failure and the aftermath re-
main a source of widespread outrage and
confusion. The inconsistent treatment of
Lehman and A.I.G., the unsatisfying
public explanations, and the subsequent
about-face on the TARP bailout—direct
injections of capital rather than buying
toxic assets—fuelled public skepticism
and, inevitably, conspiracy theories. The
one that has gained the most currency
focusses on the role of Goldman Sachs,
since Paulson is a former chairman of the
firm and Goldman was the largest re-
cipient of payments (a total of $12.9 bil-
lion) from AL G. after it was rescued. But
Goldman didn’t have a unique finan-
cial motive for the government to rescue
ALG. According to Goldman, the firm
was fully hedged against an A.LG. failure.
A review of an internal document that
Goldman prepared on September 15th

last year assessing its exposure to A.LG.
suggests that the firm would have come
out slightly ahead if A.I.G. had failed.

Had an A.L.G. collapse triggered a
global run on all banks, however, it's likely
that Goldman’s insurers couldn’t have
made good on their contracts. But, in
such a financial catastrophe, a few defaults
on A.L.G.-related swaps contracts hardly
would have mattered, since by then all
banks, and not just Goldman, likely would
have shut their doors.

The circumstances of Merrill's sale to
Bank of America also have remained con-
troversial. There was a public uproar over
the revelation that Merrill paid $3.6 billion
in bonuses before the deal closed. The ex-
Goldman bankers Montag and Kraus also
got their guarantees, $39.4 million and
$29.4 million respectively, even though, in
Kraus’s case, it was mere days from the
time he began work at Merrill until the
deal was announced. On January 22nd,
Ken Lewis met with John Thain and de-
manded his resignation. Bank of America
publicly blamed Thain for the bonus pay-
ments, maintaining that they were his de-
cision, not Lewis’s. (This despite the fact
that the bonus payments were authorized
by the document attached to the merger
agreement that Lewis signed.) That day,
CNBC reported on Thain’s $1.2-million
office renovation. Feeling betrayed and un-~
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justly accused, the suddenly unemployed
Thain was now a public symbol of Wall
Street’s excess. (Thain subsequently reim-
bursed the cost of the renovation. Neither
he nor Fleming took a bonus for 2008.)
Bank of America is now embroiled in liti-
gation over what it did or did not disclose
to shareholders before they voted to ap-
prove the merger.

These controversies aside, one fact is
inescapable: billions of taxpayer dollars
were invested in the very institutions that
caused the crisis. Multimillion-dollar an-
nual bonuses continued, even at A.L.G.
Lehman’s Dick Fuld may have had to sell
his sixteen-room Park Avenue apartment
for $6 million below the asking price—
of $32 million—but lenders have com-
menced foreclosures on nearly three mil-
lion homes since last October.

Geithner told me, “It seems unjust.
But look what happened to the global
economy after Lehman failed. Unem-
ployment in the U.S. went to 9.5 per cent.
It's not Wall Street that suffers when you
‘teach people a lesson.” The tragedy of
financial populism is that you do terrible
things to innocent people.”

Barney Frank used the analogy of de-
Baathification, pointing out that U.S.
efforts to purge Iraq of supporters of
Saddam Hussein were a disaster. “You
can’t go out and shoot the bankers,” he

said. “You can't have an economy without
a functioning credit system. People are
angry. They're furious. But you have no
option but to live with these people.”

More broadly, the events of that week
are likely to redefine the debate
over the role of markets in a democracy,
and even the nature of capitalism. At least
since the Reagan revolution of the early
nineteen-eighties, free-market ideology
has been ascendant, with even Demo-
cratic Administrations following its pre-
cepts of market discipline, limited regula-
tion, and unfettered rewards. George W.
Bush was only its latest exponent, govern-
ing on a platform of economic growth and
lower taxes. Yet it was Bush, and his Re-
publican appointees Paulson and Ber-
nanke, who orchestrated the virtual na-
tionalization of the U.S. financial system.
Although a vocal minority continues to
argue that the system should have been
left to the forces of creative destruction,

the overwhelming consensus is that free-
market principles failed to address a global
financial panic. In an intellectual debate
that has been going on since the Depres-
sion, Lehman’s failure may mark a vic-
tory of John Maynard Keynes over Adam
Smith—the government interventionists
over laissez-faire capitalists.

Congress seems incapable of con-
fronting this reality, especially with many
Republicans adhering to pre-Lehman
free-market doctrine. Senator Shelby said
this summer on CNBC, “I don’t believe
anything is too big to fail. We should let
the market discipline these banks and if
we let them do it, that would help.” The
U.S. regulatory framework is a patchwork
of agencies that largely date to the De-
pression and have proved inadequate to
restrain market excesses. It seems absurd
that A.I.G. would report to a savings-
and-loan regulator, Lehman Brothers to
the S.E.C., and Bank of America to the
Fed. The Obama Administration has
started to address many of these issues by
proposing new regulations, including ex-
panding the powers of the Federal Re-
serve to oversee different types of firms
that could pose a risk to financial stability,
as Lehman did. But thus far Congress,
absorbed in the health-care debate, has
shown scant interest in enacting any leg-
islation. And, despite outrage over lavish
bonuses and much talk about curtailing
excessive risk-taking on Wall Street,
President Obama has made only a mod-
est proposal for greater shareholder over-
sight of executive compensation, leaving
it to the French to press for stronger curbs
on excessive pay.

Meanwhile, the economy is still in
a deep recession, with unemployment at
nearly ten per cent. But the simple fact is
this: America did not plunge into the eco-
nomic abyss it faced that Thursday night.
"The bold stroke of guaranteeing the money-
market funds stopped the panic and halted
withdrawals from the funds. The commer-
cial-paper market slowly came back to life
and, with it, the credit markets. Turning
Morgan Stanley and Goldman Sachs into
bank holding companies with Fed supervi-

sion and support stopped the run on invest-

* ment banks. The details and mechanics of

the TARP legislation proved less important
than the sense that a comprehensive plan to
address the crisis was under way. The re-
prieve bought enough time for the reémer-
gence of reason over unbridled fear. ¢
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